
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Scrutiny 
Committee

Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor A Bardoe Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor J Burrell Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor R M Currans Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor J A Hayes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor A S Sandhu MBE
Councillor Mrs M B Kelly Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor C S McLean

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 6 February 2018

at 7 pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Tuesday 6 February 2018

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of any Grant(s) of Dispensation. 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 14 November 
2017 

(Pages 1 - 
10)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any) 

There are presently no references from Other Committees for 
Members to consider.

6. Chairman's Update 

7. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 11 
- 14)

To note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 
January 2018 to 31 May 2018.

8. Homelessness Review 2017 [Draw-Down] (Pages 15 
- 62)

To consider the report and enclosures presented to Cabinet on 7 
December 2017 and comment accordingly.

9. CORPORATE PLAN: KEY ACTIONS and PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT - SECTION 5 HOUSING & 
STRONGER COMMUNITIES [Draw-Down] 

(Pages 63 
- 80)



This report updates and provides further background to the report 
and Appendix B submitted to Cabinet on 7 December 2017. 

10. Identified Initiatives Reserve 2017-18 [Draw-Down] (Pages 81 
- 86)

This report updates Committee Members on expenditure to date from 
the Identified Initiatives Reserve 2017-18 prior to presentation of that 
expenditure to the General Assembly of the Council, at their Budget 
meeting due to be held on 26 February 2018. 

11. Council Events 2017 [Draw-Down] (Pages 87 
- 92)

This report updates the Committee on events held in the Borough 
during 2017 either directly provided by the Council or with Council 
support, other than the Dartford Festival.

 

12. Orchard Theatre Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17 [Work 
Plan] 

(Pages 93 
- 146)

To consider the Theatre Director’s annual report for the year ended 
31 March 2017 together with the Theatre’s published Accounts for 
the corresponding period.

13. Review 2017-18 Work Plan (Pages 
147 - 150)

To consider the 2017-18 Work Plan Update document attached as 
Appendix A to the report.

.



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 14 November 
2017 at 7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans
Councillor P Cutler
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor Mrs. M B Kelly
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey

ABSENT: Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Sarah Martin – Strategic Director (Internal Services)
Adrian Gowan – Policy & Corporate Support 

Manager
Stephen Jefferson – Leisure & Communities Officer
Mary Wilson – Leisure Officer

CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT:  Councillor J A Kite MBE, Leader of the 
Council; Cllr. Mrs Patsy Thurlow, Portfolio Holder for Events, Leisure & 
Heritage

22. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors J A Hayes and 
D J Reynolds.

23. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

24. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11 JULY 
2017 

The Vice-Chairman sought clarification over the record of Members’ 
discussion of the Regulation 9 Notice on 11 July 2017 [Min. No. 19 refers]. 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2017

2

In particular, Member discussion of the proposal to draw down for scrutiny the 
Dartford Festival, either in isolation or together with consideration of all 
Council sponsored events as proposed by the Lead Member (Enforcement & 
Community Safety) or as a Work Plan item. He noted that the 2017 Dartford 
Festival had subsequently been drawn down by the Chairman of Scrutiny in 
isolation and asked why this was the case, given the undertaking by the 
Committee Co-ordinator to consult senior Officers and revert with definitive 
advice [Min. 19 last tieret refers].  

The Ward Member for Newton supported the Vice-Chairman in his request for 
clarification and voiced his own concern that comments he had made on 11 
July in support of the Lead Member’s draw down format had not been 
recorded in the Minutes.

The Committee Co-ordinator reminded Members of the process for the draw 
down of items as contained in the Committee’s Protocol and confirmed that 
the Chairman had adhered to the Protocol in making his draw down bid for 
scrutiny of the 2017 Festival by the Committee that evening. He also 
confirmed that the advice of senior Officers had been sought and relayed to 
the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Lead Member [as Minuted] in July, and that 
Member Services had subsequently reminded all political Groups represented 
on the Committee in October of the deadline for draw-down bids for 
consideration of topics by the Committee in November.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Minutes of the Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 11 July 
2017 be confirmed;

2. That the objections of the Ward Member for Newtown, Councillor S R 
Jarnell be noted in relation to Min. No. 19 which he regarded as an 
incomplete record of Member discussion of that item on 11 July 2017.

25. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman announced that there were no urgent items for consideration.

26. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other committees.

27. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 

The Chairman had no specific issues to update the Committee on and 
thanked Members for their good wishes following his recent domestic 
accident.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2017

3

28. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED: 

That the contents of the Forward Plan for the period 16 October 2017 to 28 
February 2018 be noted.

29. DARTFORD CRICKET CLUB IN HESKETH PARK: UPDATE 

The report from the Leisure & Communities Officer enclosed a Community 
Use Information sheet from Dartford Cricket Club (DCC) dated October 
2017[attached as Appendix A to the report].  Members were asked to note the 
report and the Appendix. 

The Chairman opened discussion by reminding Members of concerns that 
had been expressed at previous meetings of the Committee over the lack of 
clear and measurable outcomes for the Council’s capital investment [£1M] to 
construct the new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park, and how that capital 
investment had helped to meet relevant Corporate Objectives for the Council. 
He invited the Leader of the Council, as Cabinet Chairman, to respond to 
those continued expressions of concern.

The Leader of the Council advised Members that he saw no difference 
between the Council’s provision of older facilities such as community halls 
and previous investment in other Council owned park facilities and the new 
cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park or the refurbishment of the Fairfield Pool and 
Leisure Centre. 

He noted with regard to the Fairfield complex that the refurbished facility was 
running at full capacity, with demand now out-stripping supply. In addition, 
Fairfield now brought in revenue for the Council, rather than costing the 
authority money to run, as had been the case prior to refurbishment. He saw 
no need to provide returns and measurable outcomes [against Corporate 
Objectives] for such an evidently successful example of capital investment by 
the Council. 

With specific reference to the building of the new cricket pavilion in Hesketh 
Park; the Leader reminded Members that the old cricket pavilion had fallen 
into serious disrepair, had ceased to be ‘fit for purpose’ and as a 
consequence, had literally threatened the continued existence of Dartford 
Cricket Club. The Council’s capital investment in a new cricket pavilion, 
through an open procurement process, had preserved the existence of the 
DCC in addition to providing a new state of the art facility for expanded 
community use. He saw no need for annual returns or measurements against 
specific Corporate Objectives [in terms of capital investment made] for such a 
similar and obvious success story for the Council.

In subsequent debate the Chairman and some Members maintained the view 
that the Scrutiny Committee needed to be satisfied that the Council’s 
significant capital investments were meeting Corporate Objectives. They 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2017

4

suggested that annual returns comparing activities and performance year on 
year for the new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park could provide the DCC with 
base evidence on which to improve their performance and management of the 
new pavilion facility, in addition to providing the Council with data with which 
to measure and support the case for future funding provision exercises. 

The Lead Member for Enforcement & Community Safety [speaking in his 
capacity as a Member of the Scrutiny Committee], supported the views of the 
Leader. He saw no need or purpose in the scrutiny of obvious Council 
success stories; other than as part of a ‘holistic’ scrutiny of all Council sporting 
and community facilities. This view was supported by a number of other 
Members.

In further response to the Chairman’s maintained view that the Committee 
required to be satisfied that recent significant capital investment by the 
Council had met Corporate Objectives; the Leader re-iterated his view that 
building the new cricket pavilion had preserved the existence of DCC and was 
further evidence of a strong portfolio of Council investment in community 
facilities including; Stone Lodge, the Judo Centre, the Bowls Club in Hesketh 
Park and the major refurbishment of the Fairfield Pool and Leisure centre.

He added that Council Officers liaised with the management of all these 
facilities in an ‘arm’s length’ arrangement with the onus put on the club’s 
management to scrutinise their own performance on a ‘failure’ basis and 
report any such ‘failure’ to Council Officers. However, the case to date for all 
the facilities was one of significant success, and he saw no need to scrutinise 
such positive outcomes in detail as proposed by the Chairman.

The Chairman noted the Leader’s comments and the contribution of all 
Members of the Committee to the debate, which he always welcomed. He 
undertook to consider further how the Committee might usefully scrutinise 
examples of the Council’s capital investment programme in the future, 
perhaps as part of the Committee’s Work Plan rather than on a draw-down 
basis [Min. No. 31 refers].

RESOLVED:

That Members note the contents of the report and Appendix A.

30. DRAW-DOWN - DARTFORD FESTIVAL 2017 

The report updated the Committee on the Dartford Festival held over the 
weekend of 15/16 July 2017 as requested by the Chairman of Scrutiny, in the 
prescribed format set out in Appendix A to the report, in terms of Budget and 
Financials, Safety and Security and Community and Business Engagement. 

Appendix B to the report [Item A in the EXEMPT agenda papers] comprised 
the Event Safety Management Plan for the 2017 Dartford Festival.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2017

5

Members were asked to note the report and Appendices.

The Chairman reminded Members that the Dartford Festival had been drawn-
down by the Committee previously, but not for some 3 years. In drawing-down 
the 2017 Festival (following consultations with Directors) he had asked that 
Officers report on a number of different aspects of the 2017 event including; 
cost, budget, safety & security, growth of the event and the delivery of 
community values. To aid this process he had provided Member Services with 
a bespoke template for completion by Officers in a Q and A format [attached 
as Appendix A to the report]. 

He asked that his appreciation of Officers’ efforts in completing Appendix A; in 
particular the information provided regarding the safety and security measures 
undertaken for the 2017 Festival; be recorded in the Minutes. 

He then invited the Leader of the Council to respond as Cabinet Chairman 
with the Council’s ‘Mission Statement’ for the Dartford Festival.

The Leader of the Council confirmed that the annual Dartford Festival was the 
single biggest public event organised by the Council. It had grown 
exponentially in recent years under the stewardship of successive Lead and 
Cabinet Members for Events, Leisure & Heritage, including the late Councillor 
Sheila East and the present Cabinet Portfolio Holder Councillor Patsy 
Thurlow. Now in its 82 year, the Festival’s focus had been restored to that of a 
live music event firmly connected to the local community; following a 
sustained period in the doldrums during the 70’s, 80’s and early 1990’s when 
it had been notorious as a ‘beer and burger’ event which attracted violence. 

In 2018 the second ‘community stage’ would be supported by a new 
'Community Village' feature. In addition to quality and recognisable headline 
artists, local music acts were represented through the winners of the ‘Local 
Bands Contest’ which helped develop and give recognition to local talent. The 
Festival was now a fun and enjoyable music event, in a great location in the 
Town centre free to all, with increased sponsorship proposed to ensure that 
free status going forward. 

The Chairman thanked the Leader for his historical and contextual comments 
and for sharing the Council’s vision for the Dartford Festival going forward. He 
proposed that Members now consider the specific sections of Appendix A to 
the covering report in detail, and sought confirmation from Officers of the 
Council’s core funding for the Festival, whether it was set to diminish in future 
years and if so, what was the Council’s ‘funding floor’ for the Festival. 

The Policy & Corporate Support Manager (P&CSM) advised that Council 
funding of the Festival had increased in the last 3/4 years as set out in 
Appendix A [Budget and Financials table – agenda pages 21/22]. The main 
increase had been in infrastructure for security screens and staging following 
the Manchester and London terror attacks on the advice of the Police Counter 
Terrorism Command. The Festival was assessed as posing a ‘less-likely’ 
target for terrorism than other major events in the Capital, but that 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2017

6

assessment would be kept under review and further increases in security 
costs could not be ruled-out in the future. 

The Leader advised that the ‘funding floor’ for the Council was that the 
Festival continued to be ‘free’ to patrons. He hoped that increased cash 
sponsorship in 2018 would help to preserve this objective without overly 
‘branding’ the Festival, whilst reducing the Council’s funding element. He 
noted that Dartford was alone in retaining its Festival amongst neighbouring 
authorities in Kent.

The Leader confirmed, in response to a specific question, that cash 
sponsorship in 2017 had totalled £50K a significant increase over the 2016 
contributions and achieved through a better target spread of sponsors 
especially in the High Street; allied to an increased marketing effort by the 
Council’s Town Centre and Business Support team based in the CSU which 
had seen several Festival stall holders become cash sponsors with branding 
rights.

The Portfolio Holder supported the Leader in his comments and praise of 
Officers efforts in attracting increased sponsorship for the Festival in 2017. As 
the only festival still running in the area, she predicted an increase in 
sponsorship in 2018 together with increased visitor numbers to the Festival 
and the Town Centre including from outside the Borough and Kent. 

The Lead Member for Enforcement & Community Safety and Members who 
ran stalls at the Festival supported these statements, whilst cautioning against 
the current Festival format growing exponentially or becoming overly 
commercialised. The current and continued success of the Dartford Festival 
lay in retaining the community feel and focus.

The Chairman asked how the Council intended to ensure its vision for a free 
community event given the proposed alteration to the funding mix and the 
inherent danger posed by increased use of commercial sponsors who could 
insist that the Festival be managed on a professional contract basis in the 
future, rather than by Officers.

The Leader advised that the new Community Village concept for 2018 allied 
to the 2nd / Community Stage [detailed map - p. 107 Agenda Item A] would 
ensure that the Council’s community vision for the Festival would be 
maintained rather than evolving into an overly commercialised corporate style 
event. The Community Village would feature fitness and dance groups, plus 
continued charity and club based elements. The community would be 
consulted over new ideas, existing elements and what needed to change. He 
believed the Council was on the right track to retain a free community event 
with an enhanced village fete feel; centred around great music (including local 
bands) with patrons able to drift in and out of proceedings over the week-end; 
not a structured corporate event.

The Portfolio Holder, supported by Members who regularly ran stalls at the 
Festival, underlined the importance of the event for small charities that could 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2017

7

collect in excess of £1,000 over the course of the Festival week-end, to 
significantly support their work throughout the year. Youth Groups also 
continued to be a strong element in the Festival make-up.

In response to a Member request for a breakdown of Festival costs on an 
income and expenditure basis (in the interests of openness and transparency) 
including an element for staffing costs to account for ‘Officer time’ devoted to 
the Festival; the Lead Member discounted the need for such an exercise. 

He advised that ‘Officer time’ devoted to the Festival formed part of their job 
description/annual duties and that costs for Infrastructure & Performance, 
Security, First Aid, Marketing/Printing, Litter Picking and Miscellaneous had 
already been provided [Table Appendix A, agenda pages 21/22].

The Chairman noted that overall costs for Security in 2017 had risen by some 
47% to £22,691 compared to £15,471 for the 2016 Festival and sought an 
explanation for the significant increase in this area of expenditure and whether 
it had reached a plateau.

The P&CSM advised that the original security contract for the 2017 Festival 
had been procured before the London and Manchester terror events. This had 
necessitated a re-evaluation of the measures previously agreed. Specific 
advice from the Police Counter-Terrorism Group, Security contractors and the 
Council’s CSU Officers had identified the need for increased security 
measures including; a sniffer dog team, physical measures to control vehicle 
ingress/egress, wands to screen patrons for knives and other weapons and 
an increased compliment of stewards costing in total an additional £11,000 for 
the 2017 event. There was no guarantee that security costs would not 
continue to increase for the 2018 Festival.

In response to a further specific question the P&CMS advised that bids for the 
Security contract for the 2017 Festival had been secured through the Local 
Government Kent Portal on a 60/40 split for quality over contract price. Only 1 
bidder had been successful in meeting all the Council’s tender criteria, but 
TMS Protect was an experienced operator in the security field with a proven 
track record and had performed well through-out the 2017 Festival process 
including; site preparation, the week-end events and the post Festival site 
clearance phase. 

The Lead Member and other Members who had participated in the Festival 
process supported Officers in their views regarding the performance of TMS 
Protect’s overall set-up and professionalism. In particular Members noted a 
much improved bag search operation, enhanced vehicle ingress/egress 
arrangements and an improved litter clearing operation with stall holders. 

The Chairman queried the lack of an Independent Safety Officer for the 
Festival [Appendix A agenda p.23].

The Leisure & Communities Officer responded in his role as Event Manager 
for the Festival. He advised that the professional expertise of TMS Protect 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2017

8

and the main contractor FULL, allied to the wealth of experience and 
expertise of Council Officers gained through their running of the Festival over 
more than a decade, was deemed sufficient. He also held national 
qualifications in a variety of safety, security and event management skills up 
to and including University Diploma level. In addition, the Council’s CSU was 
staffed by several former senior police officers who held a wide working 
experience of managing major public events in Kent, including 2012 London 
Olympic operations.

The Chairman next addressed the Community and Business Engagement 
elements of the Festival operation and asked the Leader if there were any 
plans to attract new, fresher, community elements to participate in the 2018 
Festival and going forward. Was there a need for Cabinet to examine the 
current demographics for patrons and any future cost implications for 
attendees? 

The Leader saw no need for such an exercise. The current Festival 
arrangements provided 4 (four) entrance/ exit points with basic security and 
wheelchair access and was open to all 105,000 Dartford residents: it was not 
targeted at any particular social group nor should it be, all residents [and 
visitors] were welcome. The festival was free on entry and patrons could bring 
their own food and drink in addition to purchasing from stalls, bars and food 
outlets on site. 

The Portfolio Holder supported the Leader in his views and provided further 
anecdotal examples of the wide demographic of Festival patrons, including 
wheel-chair bound visitors, many of whom had written to her in praise of the 
Festivals organisation and wide-range of amenities. 

A Member suggested that feed-back should be sought from attendees (via a 
customised form) to help the Festival develop and grow organically to meet all 
customer needs and avoid the dip in attendance and popularity experienced 
in the 80’s and 90’s. 

The Leader said that he would personally front-up such a campaign for 
customer feed-back during the 2018 Festival. He was already aware that the 
Festival was not regarded as a ‘dog-friendly’ event and that not all bands that 
performed were universally liked. He had noted that any criticism of Festival 
content on social media tended to peak between 12 Noon - 2 p.m. on the 
Saturday, and that from 4 p.m. onwards social media comments tended to be 
supportive. Community input was welcomed and noted by the Council and a 
feed-back exercise would be undertaken in 2018.

The Chairman noted the decrease in stall holders and the increase in 
sponsorship and asked whether this trend would be maintained and where the 
Council saw the Festival in 5 years’ time.

The Leader confirmed the increase in sponsorship for the Festival through the 
excellent efforts of the Council’s Town Centre & Business Support Manager 
(TC&BSM) Lewis Kirnon and his team based in the CSU. The Council’s 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2017

9

Business Awards event had helped to secure that significant increase in 
sponsorship from High Street retailers and from a major national retailer. That 
process would be maintained and expanded by the TC&BSM and his team in 
support of the 2018 Festival. 

The Leader advised, in terms of the Council’s vision for the Dartford Festival 
in 5 years’ time; that the aim was not one of exponential growth, given finance 
restrictions. Rather it was to maintain a well-attended Festival with good 
music acts (including local bands), plus a traditional element with a re-vamped 
‘big tent’ and a strong charity representation.

The Chairman thanked the Leader for this further confirmation of the path 
forward for the Festival and for the contribution of the Portfolio Holder and 
Lead Member in responding to Members questions, and to Officers for 
providing an excellent report.

RESOLVED:

That the report and Appendices be noted.

31. REVIEW WORK PLAN 2017-18 

Members reviewed the Committee’s current Work Plan as submitted in the 
agenda papers [Item 10 Appendix A p.31].

The Chairman offered to consult ‘off-stream’ with Members of other political 
Groups represented on the Committee over proposals for future topics for 
inclusion in the Work Plan and the format of any future draw-down proposals.

Members were unable to reach a consensus on the Chairman’s suggestion. 
Some Members expressed the opinion that the Committee was already over-
worked and examining topics in too much detail and that future bids for draw-
down items should scrutinise topics ‘holistically’ in tandem with other related 
areas of Council activity, rather than in isolation.

RESOLVED:

That Members note the contents of the Committee’s Work Plan as submitted 
in the agenda papers.  

The meeting closed at 8.50 pm

Councillor J S Hawkes
CHAIRMAN





15 January 2018 - 31 May 2018

1 of 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Revenue and Capital Budgets 
2018/19

To set the levels of expenditure for 
Dartford Borough Council capital and 
revenue budgets for 2018/19, to 
approve the level of rents chargeable 
for Housing Revenue Account 
dwellings for 2018/19, to agree the 
level of Council Tax for Dartford 
Borough in its parished and 
unparished areas for 2018/19, to 
approve the Pay Policy Statement 
for 2018/19 and to determine sundry 
related matters.

General Assembly 
of the Council 
(Budget)
26 Feb 2018

Budget consultation with 
residents and 
businesses – December 
to January - mainly via 
website.

Tim Sams, Financial Services 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343148
tim.sams@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Stone Lodge - Appropriation for 
Planning Purposes

  

Cabinet
8 Mar 2018

Appropriation for 
planning purposes to be 
advertised post in 
principle decision by 
Cabinet.

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services
Tel: 01322 343634
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Homeless Strategy 2018

To agree an updated version of the 
Council’s Homeless Strategy.

Cabinet
8 Mar 2018

General Assembly 
of the Council
19 Mar 2018

Stakeholders and 
residents to be 
consulted through an 
on-line survey.

Jackie Pye, Housing Policy 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343683
jacqueline.pye@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN



3 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non-Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
8 Mar 2018

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)





CABINET
7 DECEMBER 2017

HOMELESSNESS REVIEW 2017

1. Summary

1.1. This report presents the outcomes for the Council's Homelessness Review 2017 for 
approval by Cabinet. This review details the extent of homelessness in Dartford and 
marks the first stage of developing Dartford’s wider Homelessness Strategy in 2018.

2.      RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That the contents of the homelessness review in Dartford, attached at Appendix A to 
the report, be noted.

2.2.     That the Homelessness Review, as the first stage towards the development of the 
Council's Homelessness Strategy 2018, be presented to the General Assembly of the 
Council in April 2018.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Council has a statutory obligation to produce a strategy to address 
homelessness.  Any development/revision of the Homelessness Strategy should 
be based on the findings from reviewing homelessness in the Borough. 

3.2. In 2003, the Council published its first Homelessness Strategy setting out how 
services will be delivered to prevent and tackle homelessness in the borough. 
Since then, three further strategies have followed, the last being published in 2011 
to cover the period 2011 to 2014.  Due to numerous legislative changes over the 
last few years, this review was delayed until now to ensure that both the review 
and strategy are up to date and relevant.

3.3. The purpose of the review, covering the period 2014 to 2017 is to establish the 
extent of homelessness in the Borough, assess its likely extent in the future and 
map what is currently being done, and by whom, to prevent and tackle 
homelessness.  Annex 1 to Appendix A to this report, presents the findings from 
the review of homelessness for Dartford.

3.4. Consultation was carried out with key stakeholders including council officers, 
voluntary and statutory agencies and service users.  Details of the consultation 
can be found in the Homeless Review document at Section 10 and Annex 2 to 
Appendix A.

3.5. Summary of main findings

3.6. Despite a long period where the number of homeless decisions and acceptances 
were generally decreasing, this trend is showing signs of shifting as there were 
twice as many applications and acceptances made in 2014/15 than the previous 
year although this has now stabilised in 2017. 



CABINET
7 DECEMBER 2017

3.7. 781 decisions were made in the period 2014 to 2017.  Of these, 498 households 
were accepted (they were eligible, unintentionally homeless and in priority need).

3.8. The primary priority need category for applicants accepted continues to be 
because the applicant has dependent children, mainly in a lone parent household.  
This is followed by the applicant being vulnerable because of mental illness and 
vulnerable because of a physical disability. 

3.9. The majority of applicants accepted the main homelessness duty were from a 
white ethnic group and aged between 16 and 44 years old.

3.10. The main reason for homelessness is because of the loss of tied or rented 
accommodation in the private rented sector, mainly because of the termination of 
an assured shorthold tenancy. This cause of homelessness has increased 
significantly since the last review. Parents, relatives or friends no longer willing to 
accommodate is now the second highest cause of homelessness followed by 
violent breakdown of a relationship. 

3.11. A total of 189 homelessness preventions and relief took place outside of the 
statutory homeless framework. The number of homelessness preventions and 
relief has remained relatively stable over the last three years. 

3.12. The levels of homeless households placed in temporary accommodation is 
steadily increasing with more households in temporary accommodation at the end 
of quarter 4 in 2016/17 than previous quarters. 

3.13. The following table shows the level of spend on temporary accommodation against 
income.  As can be seen, the cost of temporary accommodation has risen over the 
last few years. Factors surrounding welfare reform, rising housing costs and the 
difficulty of procuring private rented accommodation, have contributed to the rising 
numbers of homeless households in temporary accommodation. A lack of 
available private sector accommodation in the borough has resulted in a growing 
proportion of homeless households being accommodated in another borough

TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION
2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

DPLS (PRIVATE LEASING) 608,392 623,853 724,927
NIGHTLY PAID ACCOMMODATION 587,054 1,031,786 1,635,596
TOTAL SPEND 1,195,446 1,655,639 2,360,523
    
INCOME (Housing Benefit) 1,141,068 1,401,985 1,712,466
    
ACTUAL SPEND 54,378 253,654 648,057

3.14. There were 9 rough sleepers identified on a given night in 2016/2017 compared to 
10 in 2015/2016 and 19 in 2014/2015. 

3.15. Resources for funding the Council’s approach towards preventing and tackling 
homelessness through the homelessness prevention funding and new burdens’ 



CABINET
7 DECEMBER 2017

funding has been agreed up to 2020.  The homeless prevention funding is mainly 
used to prevent homelessness where possible; for example by providing rental 
deposits.  This workstream has been budgeted at £106,500 for each year of the 
review.  New burden funding of £48,217 in 2018/19 and similar amounts for the 
next two years has been allocated to assist local authorities implement the 
requirements of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

This report relates to the Corporate Plan aims of ‘meeting the housing needs of 
the Borough and achieving self-reliant communities’

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications As detailed in this report

Legal Implications
 

Carrying out a review of homelessness and 
publishing a homeless strategy is a legal 
requirement.

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No alternative option has been considered. The 
responsibility for carrying out a review of 
homelessness is a statutory requirement and a 
key element of the Homelessness Code of 
Guidance for Local Authorities.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Homelessness Review 2016/2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Authors Section 
and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

N/A N/A Peter Dosad 
Jackie Pye

Strategic 
(Ext)

N/A





1

HOMELESSNESS REVIEW 
2016/2017

If you or anybody you know requires this or any 
other council information in another language, 
please contact us and we will do our best to 
provide this for you. Braille, Audio tape and large 
print versions of this document are available upon 
request. 

Tel: 01322 343434
Fax: 01322 343432
Email: customer.services@dartford.gov.uk

Calls are welcome via NGT Relay

mailto:customer.services@dartford.gov.uk


2

CONTENTS
                Page              

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 3

2.0 INTRODUCTION 5

3.0 HOMELESSNESS LEGISLATION 6

4.0 NATIONAL POLICY CONTEXT 7

5.0 PROFILE OF DARTFORD 9

6.0 LEVELS AND CAUSES OF HOMELESSNESS 12  

7.0 HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION,  
          ACCOMMODATION AND SUPPORT 16

8.0 RESOURCES 23 

9.0 KEY CHALLENGES 23

10.0 CONSULTATION OUTCOMES 25

11.0 CONCLUSIONS 28

ANNEX 1: DELIVERY OF THE PREVIOUS HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 30
ANNEX 2: HOUSING OPTIONS CUSTOMER SATISFACTION SURVEY 34



3

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
___________________________________________________________________

1.1 Context

1.1.1 In 2003 Dartford Borough Council published its first Homelessness Strategy setting out 
how services will be delivered to prevent and tackle homelessness in the borough. 
Since then three further strategies have followed, the last being published in 2011. 
Progress made in the delivery of the previous Strategy can be found in Annex 1.  

1.1.2 The Council is in the process of developing a new Homelessness Strategy for the 
borough now that a review of homelessness has been undertaken. This document 
sets out the findings of the review of homelessness, covering a review period from 
2014 to 2017 

1.1.3 The review takes into account the current levels of homelessness in the borough; the 
causes of homelessness; the activities carried out for the prevention and relief of 
homelessness and the resources available for these activities.

1.2 Summary of main findings

1.2.1 Despite a long period where the number of homeless decisions and acceptances were 
generally decreasing, this trend is showing signs of shifting as there were twice as 
many applications and acceptances made in 2014/15 than the previous year although 
this has now mainly stabilised in 2017. 

1.2.2 781 decisions were made in the period 2014 to 2017.  Of these 498 households were 
accepted under the main homelessness duty (they were eligible, unintentionally 
homeless and in priority need).

1.2.3 The primary priority need category for applicants accepted under the main 
homelessness duty continues to be because the applicant has dependent children, 
mainly in a lone parent household.  This is followed by the applicant being vulnerable 
because of mental illness and vulnerable because of a physical disability. 

1.2.4 The majority of applicants accepted the main homelessness duty were from a white 
ethnic group and aged between 16 and 44 years old.

1.2.5 The main reason for homelessness is because of the loss of tied or rented 
accommodation in the private rented sector, mainly because of the termination of an 
assured shorthold tenancy. This cause of homelessness has increased significantly 
since the last review. Parents, relatives or friends no longer willing to accommodate is 
now the second highest cause of homelessness followed by violent breakdown of a 
relationship.

1.2.6 A total of 189 homelessness preventions and relief took place outside of the statutory 
homeless framework. The number of homelessness preventions and relief has 
remained relatively stable over the last three years. 

1.2.7 The levels of homeless households placed into temporary accommodation is steadily 
increasing with more households in temporary accommodation at the end of quarter 4 
in 2016/17 than previous quarters. This increase in the use of temporary 
accommodation is mainly due to the lack of suitable accommodation in the private 
rented sector.  



4

1.2.8 Factors surrounding welfare reform, rising housing costs and the difficulty of procuring 
private rented accommodation, have contributed to the rising numbers of homeless 
households in temporary accommodation. A lack of available private sector 
accommodation in the borough has resulted in a growing proportion of homeless 
households being accommodated in another borough.

1.2.9 There were 9 rough sleepers identified on a given night in 2016/2017 compared to 10 
in 2015/2016 and 19 in 2014/2015.  

1.2.10 Resources for funding the Council’s approach towards preventing and tackling 
homelessness through the Homelessness Prevention Grant and New Burden’s 
funding has been agreed up to 2020.  



5

2.0 INTRODUCTION
___________________________________________________________________

2.1 About the Homelessness Review 
2.1.1 Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 places a duty on local authorities to provide advice 

and assistance to homeless people and people threatened with homelessness.

2.1.2 The Homelessness Act 2002 also places a duty on local authorities to carry out a 
review of homelessness in their borough at least every five years and to develop a 
Homelessness Strategy in response to the findings of the review.

2.1.3 The homelessness review must take into account: 

 The levels, and likely future levels, of homelessness in the borough
 The activities which are carried out for: 

 preventing homelessness 
 securing accommodation for people who are or may become homeless
 providing support for people who are or may become homeless or who have 

been homeless and need support to prevent them from becoming homeless 
again

 The resources available in the borough for the above activities. 

2.1.4 The review will inform a revised Homelessness Strategy that will ensure appropriate 
actions are taken to: 

 Prevent homelessness in the borough 
 Ensure that sufficient accommodation is and will be available for people in the 

borough who are or may become homeless 
 Secure the satisfactory provision of support for people in the borough who are or 

may become homeless or who have been homeless and need support to prevent 
them becoming homeless again. 

2.1.5 As part of the revised Homelessness Strategy, an Action Plan will be developed to 
help ensure the objectives set out in the Strategy are achieved.  The progress of 
implementing the Strategy Action Plan will be monitored by the multi-agency Dartford 
Homelessness Strategy Implementation Group, chaired by the Housing Options and 
Private Sector Manager.

2.2 The Homelessness Review process
2.2.1 A desk top review of data held by the Council, in the form of P1E statutory returns to 

central government, and data held by other bodies and organisations, has been used 
to inform the review. 

2.2.2 Consultation has been undertaken to look at and discuss the key issues that are 
important to homeless people.  Key stakeholder organisations that the Council works 
in partnership with were also consulted. The consultation outcomes are detailed in 
Section 10.



6

3.0 HOMELESSNESS LEGISLATION 
___________________________________________________________________

3.1 Homeless Reduction Act 2017 

3.1.1 The Homeless Reduction Act 2017 significantly reformed England’s homeless 
legislation by placing duties on local authorities to intervene at earlier stages to 
prevent homelessness in their areas.  It also requires housing authorities to provide 
homelessness services to all those affected, not just those who have ‘priority need’.  
These include:

a) An enhanced prevention duty extending the period a household is threatened with 
homelessness from 28 days to 56 days meaning that housing authorities are required 
to work with people to prevent homelessness at an earlier stage;

b) A new duty for those who are already homeless so that housing authorities will 
support households for 56 days to relieve their homelessness by helping them to 
secure accommodation. 

3.2 Housing Act 1996 

3.2.1 A person is accepted as homeless and entitled to assistance (a main homelessness 
duty under S.193) when they are: 

 homeless or threatened with homelessness within 28 days 
 eligible for assistance 
 in priority need 
 not intentionally homeless.

 
3.2.2 The local authority will also look at whether the person has a local connection to the 

borough. 

3.3 Homelessness Act 2002
 
3.3.1 The Homelessness Act 2002 amended previous homelessness legislation to extend 

the priority need categories. A person is in priority need if they or someone they 
normally live with: 

 Has dependent children living with them who are aged 16 or under, or aged 17 to 
18 and still in full time education 

 Are pregnant 
 Are aged 60 years or over and vulnerable 
 Are vulnerable because they or someone they live with are physically or mentally 

ill or disabled 
 Are leaving the armed forces, coming out of prison or have been in care, or 

fostered, or are fleeing violence 
 Are homeless because of fire, flood or any similar disaster 
 Are aged 16 or 17. 

3.3.2 When a main homelessness duty is owed, the person is either assisted to remain in 
their existing accommodation (duty owed, no accommodation secured) or are placed 
in temporary accommodation to await an offer of settled accommodation.

3.3.3 When a main homelessness duty is not owed (i.e. the person is homeless but not in 
priority need, or they have brought about their own homelessness), the local authority 



7

must make an assessment of their housing needs and provide advice and assistance 
to help them find accommodation for themselves.

4.0 NATIONAL POLICY CONTEXT 
___________________________________________________________________

4.1 Since 2010, there have been a number of key national policy and legislative changes 
affecting the housing and homelessness sector. 

4.2 Localism Act 2011

4.2.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced local government reforms that gave local 
authorities:

 The power to bring the homelessness duty to an end by offering the applicant a 
suitable property let on an assured shorthold tenancy from a private landlord

 A requirement to develop and publish a Tenancy Strategy and Policy (these can 
be found at www.dartford.gov.uk) 

 A requirement when formulating a Homelessness Strategy, to have regard to the 
local authority Allocations’ Policy and Tenancy Strategy

 The right to grant fixed term tenancies
 Greater flexibility for local authorities in managing their housing allocations 

scheme based on local needs and policy. 

4.3 Welfare Reform Act 2012

4.3.1 The Welfare Reform Act 2011 aimed to simplify and improve efficiency in the benefits 
system, increase incentives to work and tackle the costs of the system to ensure its 
future sustainability. Below is a summary of the main welfare reforms:

 Introduction of a Universal Credit which replaces six in work and out of work 
benefits rolled into a single payment to a household

 Personal Independence Payment has replaced Disability Living Allowance for 
working age claimants aged between 16 and 64 years old

 Caps introduced on Local Housing Allowance rates for properties of specific sizes
 Reduction of the Local Housing Allowance rate from the 50th to 30th  percentile
 Extension of the age threshold for the shared accommodation rate from 25 to 35 
 Localised support for Council Tax introduced to replace Council Tax Benefit
 Housing Benefit for tenants renting social housing is restricted where people are 

under occupying their property (not applicable to those of pensionable age)

 A benefit cap on the total amount of benefits a household can receive
 Community Care Grants and Crisis Loans abolished. Local authorities are now 

free to deliver their own local arrangements to assist people facing a crisis or 
short-term unavoidable need.

4.4 Ministerial Working Group on preventing and tackling homelessness

4.4.1 The Ministerial Working Group on preventing and tackling homelessness formed in 
2010. In July 2011 a report ‘Vision to end rough sleeping: No Second Night Out 
nationwide’ was published which drove forward the national roll out of No Second Night 
Out, a rapid response service for ensuring rough sleepers do not spend a second night out on 



8

the streets.

4.4.2 Their second report in August 2012, ‘Making every contact count: a joint approach to 
preventing homelessness’ outlined 10 local challenges to the homelessness sector:

 Adopt a corporate commitment to prevent homelessness which has buy in across 
all local authority services 

 Actively work in partnership with voluntary sector and other local partners to 
address support, education, employment and training needs 

 Offer a Housing Options prevention service, including written advice, to all clients 
 Adopt a No Second Night Out model or an effective local alternative 
 Have housing pathways agreed or in development with each key partner and client 

group that includes appropriate accommodation and support 
 Develop a suitable private rented sector offer for all client groups, including advice 

and support to both clients and landlords 
 Actively engage in preventing mortgage repossessions including through the 

Mortgage Rescue Scheme 
 Have a Homelessness Strategy which sets out a proactive approach to preventing 

homelessness and is reviewed annually so that it is responsive to emerging needs 
 Not place any young person aged 16 or 17 in Bed and Breakfast accommodation 
 Not place any families in Bed and Breakfast accommodation unless in an 

emergency and then for no longer than 6 weeks. 

4.4.3 Their third report published in March 2015, ‘Addressing complex needs: improving 
services for vulnerable homeless people’, highlights the progress the group has made 
to date, sets out their future aspirations for future services to help some of society’s 
most vulnerable single homeless people and called for evidence to help understand 
the scope and potential of a future scheme of:

 Locally-led commissioning of services
 A central voluntary sector role to delivering the specialist help homeless people 

with complex needs require
 Using payment by results and social finance so that public investment is used in 

the most cost-effective way
 Exploring the ‘Housing First’ model which places homeless people into long-term 

settled accommodation and then uses this stability as a basis to address their 
other support needs.

4.5 2015 to 2020 

4.5.1 The Government elected in May 2015 set out its intentions for housing in their party 
manifesto. Their pledges included: 

 Helping to keep mortgage rates lower by continuing to work through their long-
term economic plan

 Extending the Help to Buy Equity Loan scheme to 2020 to help more people onto 
and up the housing ladder, and introduce a new Help to Buy ISA to support people 
saving for a deposit

 Giving more people the chance to own their home by extending the Right to Buy to 
tenants of housing associations and create a Brownfield Fund to unlock homes on 
brownfield land

 Ensuring local people have more control over planning and protect the Green Belt.



9

4.5.2 The Summer Budget was presented to Parliament on the 8 July 2015. The main aim of 
the government is to move towards higher employment and wages, lower taxes and a 
lower welfare economy in order to reduce the deficit and achieve a surplus by 2019-
20. Their plans include measures such as rewarding work through the introduction of 
the national living wage, an increase in tax free personal allowance, free childcare and 
apprenticeships. Included in measures to help achieve a surplus will be £12 billion 
savings through welfare reforms. 

 
Welfare reforms announced in the Summer Budget 2015

Tax Credits – Tax Credits and Universal Credit will be restricted to two children, affecting 
children born after April 2017. The income level at which Tax Credits can be claimed will 
reduce from £6,420 to £3,850 

Benefits freeze – Working-age benefits, Tax Credits and Local Housing Allowance will 
be frozen for four years (disability benefits, pensions and maternity pay exempted)

Benefit Cap – The annual household benefit cap will be reduced to £20,000 (£23,000 in 
London) There are exemptions to this for households certain types of benefits.

Housing Benefit – 18-21-year-olds will not be entitled to claim housing benefit 
automatically. Parents whose children live with them will not be included in this measure. 
Vulnerable groups will also be excluded, as will claimants who have been in continuous 
work for the preceding six months.

Social housing – Social housing rents will reduce by 1% for four years from 2016. 
Employment and Support Allowance – New claimants of the Work Related Activity 
Group element of Employment and Support Allowance who are deemed able to prepare 
for work will receive the same amount as is paid for Jobseekers Allowance (a reduction of 
£30)

5.0 PROFILE OF DARTFORD
___________________________________________________________________

5.1 Overview

5.1.1 Dartford is a borough in north-west Kent, in the south east of England. It is the 
smallest borough in Kent; both in terms of area and population. The major urban 
centre is Dartford town in the north-west part of the borough, and in contrast the south 
and east of the borough is largely semi-rural with a number of historic villages and 
settlements.

 Commuters are serviced by good transport links with the M25 motorway and the 
Dartford Crossing, the Fast Track bus service, the north Kent railway line that provides 
regular services to mainline London stations, and the international railway station at 
Ebbsfleet offering rail links across Europe.

Dartford is situated at the heart of the Thames Gateway which will see major growth 
including a Garden City at Ebbsfleet which will deliver 15,000 new homes and up to 
20,000 jobs.

5.2 Population

5.2.1 Dartford has a population of 105,500, the smallest in Kent.  However, although it is the 
smallest, it is the most populated, with 14.5 people per hectare.  The population of 
Dartford is projected to increase to 133,400 by 2025 (Source: Kent County Council 
population estimates). 



10

5.2.2 Net migration in Dartford in 2015 was +1100. The positive growth in migration means 
there have been more people entering the borough than leaving which is a contributing 
factor to the population growth (Source: Kent County Council population change).

5.3 Ethnicity

5.3.1 The largest ethnic group in Dartford is White (87.37%) whilst the remaining 12.63% of 
Dartford’s population are from a Black Minority Ethnic (BME) group. The largest BME 
group in Dartford is Asian/Asian British (5.96%) (Source: 2011 Census, Office of 
National Statistics).  

5.4 Housing tenure

5.4.1 As at 31 March 2017 it is estimated that there were 43,130 dwellings in Dartford 
(Source: Departments for Communities and Local Government). The 43,130 dwellings 
are made up of:

 Dartford Borough Council’s social housing stock - 4,250
 Housing Associations/Private Registered Providers - 2,500
 Private Sector Housing - 36,380

5.5 Mortgage and landlord possessions

5.5.1 There were 213 mortgage repossessions in Dartford between 2014 and 2017. Despite 
this being the highest type of possession in cumulative terms, the numbers have 
generally been declining each year since low interest rates took effect in 2008, with a 
56.25% fall in mortgage possessions in 2016/17 compared to the previous year. 

5.5.2 Of the 166 private landlord possessions between 2014 and 2017, there was a 21.05% 
decrease in 2015 from the previous year. Accelerated possessions however have 
increased each year during this period (177 in total). There was a 10.63% increase in 
2015 from the previous year 

5.5.3 Of the 155 social landlord possessions between 2010 and 2015, there was a 9.37% 
decrease in 2017 from the previous years. 

(Source: Quarterly landlord and possession statistics, Ministry of Justice).

5.6 Housing costs 

5.6.1 Social housing rents have been increasing each year. However, the Government 
announced that social rents must decrease by 1% per year from 2016.  The average 
cost of a social rented two bedroom property in Darford in 2017 is around £130 per 
week; far lower than any comparable property in the private rented sector. 

5.6.2 Average monthly rents in the private rented sector have been increasing each year. In 
2011, the average monthly rent for a one-bedroom property in the private rented 
sector was £541 and in 2017 it is £769. A two bedroom property would cost on 
average £679 per month to rent in 2011 and £996 in 2017. A three bedroom property 
would cost on average £791 per month to rent in 2011 and £1275 in 2017 (Source: 
Estate Agent Data).

5.6.3 Average house prices have also increased each year. In 2010, the average house 
price in Dartford was £210,959 whereas in 2017 it is around £290,000. 



11

5.7 Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople
 
5.7.1 The January 2017 bi-annual Traveller Caravan Count undertaken by the Department 

of Communities and Local Government, counted a total of 105 caravans on both 
authorised and unauthorised sites in Dartford.   

5.7.2 The Dartford Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation 
Assessment in 2013 estimated there to be at least 408 individuals (127 households) in 
Dartford from the Gypsy and Traveller community living in socially rented and private 
sites, unauthorised sites, bricks and mortar accommodation and travelling show 
people plots. 

5.8. Syrian Vulnerable Persons’ Relocation Scheme

5.8.1 As part of its response to the current situation in Syria, the Government set up the 
Syrian Vulnerable Persons Relocation Scheme (SVPRS) in February 2014. This 
scheme involves taking particularly vulnerable refugees straight from the Middle East 
and resettling them in the UK.  The refugees are given five years Humanitarian Leave 
to Remain and as such are able to work and claim benefits and other public funds from 
day one.  Currently, Dartford Borough Council  has accommodated two families under 
this scheme.  

5.9 Earnings 

5.9.1 In 2016 the median full-time weekly earnings for workers living in Dartford was 
£612.50. This was above the Kent figure of £553.30 and above the figure for Great 
Britain of £541. Overall earnings of people living in Kent continue to increase. (Source: 
Kent County Council area profiles).

5.10 Deprivation and poverty

5.10.1 In 2015 Dartford was ranked 170 out of 326 English boroughs in terms of deprivation 
(a rank of 1 being least deprived). Dartford has seen a decrease in the level of 
deprivation since 2010 by moving down the rankings by 5 places. However, there are 
still pockets of deprivation in the borough with some Lower Super Output Areas in the 
borough being within the top 20% of most deprived in England (Source: 2015 English 
Indices of Deprivation). 

5.11 Unemployment

5.11.1 As at July 2017 the unemployment rate in Dartford was 1.2% which is below the 
national average of 1.9% and the Kent average of 1.7%. This is based on the number 
of people aged 16-64 who are claiming Jobseekers Allowance. (Source: Kent Council 
unemployment statistics).

5.12 Health and wellbeing

5.12.1 Life expectancy is 8.0 years lower for men and 5.9 years lower for women in the most 
deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived areas. In 2015, 69.1% of adults 
were classified as overweight or obese. The rate of alcohol related harm hospital stays 
was 644 (per 100,000 population) in 2014/2015, which represents 593 stays per year. 
The rate of smoking related deaths was 293 (per 100,000 population) in 2015, which 
represents 139 deaths per year (2016 Health Profile for Dartford, Public Health 
England).



12

6.0 LEVELS AND CAUSES OF HOMELESSNESS
___________________________________________________________________

6.1 Levels of homelessness

6.1.1 Homeless decisions and acceptances

All applications for assistance under current homelessness legislation are referred to 
as ‘decisions’. If an applicant is found to be eligible, unintentionally homeless and in 
priority need, it is referred to as an ‘acceptance’. When an applicant is accepted as 
homeless they are owed a ‘main homelessness duty’. This means the local authority 
must ensure that suitable accommodation is available for the applicant and his or her 
household.

The number of homeless decisions and acceptances in the last three years is shown 
in the chart below. Decisions generally followed a declining trend until 2014/15 where 
a clear increase can be seen with twice as many decisions made in 2014/15 than the 
previous year. 

Acceptances also increased, however, the increase in decisions and acceptances may 
be partly due to new case management software, which has resulted in improved 
recording mechanisms. 

   
Chart 1: Homeless decisions and acceptances – 2014/15 to 2016/17

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Decisions
Accepted

6.1.2 Homeless acceptances by priority need category

Between 2014 and 2017, the main priority need category for applicants accepted a full 
homelessness duty was households with dependent children. This category 
represented just over two thirds of cases which is consistent with previous reviews and 
reported nationally. 

The second highest priority need category was households who were vulnerable 
because of mental illness followed by households vulnerable because of a physical 
disability. 

Source: P1E



13

Chart 2: Homeless acceptances by priority need category – 2014/2015 – 2016/2017

Alco
hol D

ependency

Been In
 Care

Been In
 Custo

dy

Dependent C
hild

ren

Domesti
c V

iolence

Drug D
ependency

Emerge
ncy

Fle
d Due To Violence

Fo
rm

er A
syl

um Se
eke

r

In Care
 18-20

Mental
 Ill

ness

Old Age
Other

Physi
ca

l D
isa

bilit
y

Pregn
an

t O
nly

Se
rve

d in
 HM Fo

rce
s

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2014/15
2015/16
2016/17

6.1.3 Homeless acceptances by ethnicity

Between 2014 and 2017, the majority of applicants accepted as homeless were from a 
white ethnic group followed by applicants from a black ethnic group.  This is to be 
expected given the ethnicity profile of Dartford (see Section 5).

Chart 3: Homeless acceptances by ethnicity – 2014-15 to 2016-17

White Black Asian Mixed Other Ethnicity 
not 

stated

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2014/15
2015/16
2016/17

Source: P1E

Source: P1E



14

6.1.4 Homeless acceptances by age

The majority of applicants accepted as homeless between 2014 and 2017 were aged 
between 25 and 44 years old, followed by applicants aged 16 to 24 years old. 
Nationally these age groups are also the primary age groups accepted. This is to be 
expected considering that those aged under 45 years old are much more likely to have 
dependent children within their household and that this is the primary priority need 
group accepted as homeless. 
Chart 4: Homeless acceptances by age – 2014/2015 to 2016/2017

16 - 24 25 - 44 45 - 59 60 - 64 65 - 74 75 & 
Over

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2014/15
2015/16
2016/17

6.1.5 Homeless acceptances by household type

The majority of applicants accepted as homeless between 2014 and 2017 were from a 
lone parent household followed by couples with dependent children. Again, this is 
consistent with national trends and to be expected since households with dependent 
children are the primary priority need group accepted as homeless. 
Chart 5: Homeless acceptances by household type – 2014/2015 – 2016/2017

Couple W
ith

 Dependent 

Child
ren

Lo
ne Pare

nt M
ale

Lo
ne Pare

nt F
emale

One Perso
n M

ale

One Perso
n Fe

male

Other H
ousehold Group

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2014/15
2015/16
2016/17

Source: P1E

Source: P1E



15

6.1.6 Decisions where a main homelessness duty is not owed

Between 2014 and 2017 there were 283 decisions made where a main homelessness 
duty was not owed out of a total of 781 decisions. This represents 36% of all decision. 

6.1.7 Rough sleeping

Rough sleeping remains the most visible and damaging manifestation of 
homelessness. Historically, the Council would measure the extent of homelessness in 
the borough by undertaking a street count on a given night each year. These counts 
always returned a figure of zero and were thought to be unrepresentative of the actual 
levels of rough sleeping considering that evidence from other sources, such as the 
local outreach service, suggested otherwise.   

In 2010, the Government introduced a new methodology for evaluating the extent of 
rough sleeping by giving local authorities the option to either submit a count figure or 
an estimate relating to the number of people thought to be rough sleeping on a typical 
night.

Since 2011, the Council has submitted an estimate figure, which is informed by 
intelligence gathered from local agencies that have the most accurate information 
about who is sleeping rough. The estimates can be seen in the below table and shows 
that, rough sleeping has declined since 2014. 

Table 2: Rough sleeping in Dartford – 2010 to 2014 
2011 Estimate 15
2012 Estimate 16
2013 Estimate 12
2014 Estimate 19
2015 Estimate 10
2016 Estimate 9
2017 Estimate TBA

It is important to note that not all people who are homeless approach the local 
authority for assistance and show up in official homelessness figures. Often referred to 
as ‘hidden homelessness’, these people usually find a temporary solution such as sofa 
surfing, living in squats or hostels and sleeping rough.

For the purpose of official rough sleeping figures, those who are in hostels or shelters, 
in campsites or other sites used for recreational purposes or organised protest, 
squatters or travellers are not included in the definition of rough sleeping which means 
there is nowhere else that they are counted in official homelessness figures. It is 
therefore recognised that quantifying the full level of hidden homelessness is very 
difficult.  

6.2 Causes of homelessness

6.2.1 Main causes of homelessness for households 

The main reason for homelessness for households owed a main homelessness duty 
over the last three years is the loss of rented or tied accommodation in the private 
rented sector.  Nationally this is also the most frequently occurring reason for the loss 
of last settled home. The main cause of the loss of private rented accommodation is 
the termination of an assured shorthold tenancy (AST). The main reason for 

Source: Rough Counts and Estimates



16

termination is usually because the landlord wants the property returned. Only a small 
proportion of terminations are due to rent arrears. 

The second highest reason for homelessness is because parents, relatives or friends 
are no longer willing to accommodate. The third highest is violence.  This can involve a 
partner or associated person, be racially motivated or other forms. 

Chart 7: Causes of homelessness – 2014/2015 to 2016/2017

Left ForcesLeft HospitalLeft other institution or LA careLeft Prison On RemandLocal authority or other public sector dwellings arrearsMortgage ArrearsNon Violent BreakdownOtherOther HarassmentOther ViolenceParents Not WillingPrivate Rent ArrearsRacially motivated violenceReasons other than termination of ASTRelatives Not WillingRequired to leave accommodation provided by Home Office as 
asylum support

RSL Rent ArrearsTerm Of ASTViolence Othr PersonViolent Partner
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2014/15
2015/16
2016/17

The main cause of homelessness has changed since the last review where violence 
was the most prominent cause of homelessness. The loss of rented or tied 
accommodation broadly reflects the severe lack of suitable rented accommodation in 
the private sector and landlord’s increasing reluctance to let to households in receipt of 
housing benefit.

7.0 HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION, ACCOMMODATION AND 
SUPPORT 

___________________________________________________________________

7.1 Housing Options & Private Sector Team

7.1.1 The Council’s Housing Options & Private Sector Team is responsible for the delivery 
of activities carried out to prevent homelessness, to assist in securing accommodation 
and the provision of support to homeless households. 

7.1.2 Housing advice is available between 8:45am and 5:15pm Monday to Thursday and 
8:45am and 4:45pm on Friday. There is an emergency service for emergencies 
outside of these hours. Any person at risk of becoming homeless who approaches the 
Council will receive an appointment where an in depth assessment of their needs will 
take place. The primary aim of the assessment is to explore and put in place 

Source: P1E



17

measures that will prevent homelessness wherever possible. Emergency cases will be 
seen without an appointment.

7.2 Homelessness preventions and relief

7.2.1 Homelessness prevention entails providing people with the ways and means to 
address their housing and other needs to avoid homelessness. This is achieved by 
either assisting them to obtain alternative accommodation or enabling them to remain 
in their existing home.

7.2.2 Homelessness relief occurs where the Council has been unable to prevent 
homelessness but assists in securing accommodation, even though the Council is 
under no statutory obligation to do so.

7.2.3 A total of 189 homelessness preventions and relief took place in Dartford outside of 
the statutory homeless framework between 2014 and 2017.  The total number of 
homelessness preventions and relief has decreased since 2014.  This is also due to 
the severe lack of suitable private sector accommodation and the fact that landlords 
are now less willing to let their properties to tenants in receipt of housing benefit or 
universal credit as the Local Housing Allowance cap is not sufficient to cover rental 
costs.

Chart 8: Homelessness preventions and relief 2014/2015 – 2016/2017

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
0

50

100

7.2.4 Activities carried out to help prevent homelessness in Dartford

Homeless Prevention Payments

The Council administers homeless prevention payments to provide a short term 
solution to homelessness. The payments are commonly used for rent ‘top-ups’, to 
cover delays in benefit payments, rent arrear payments and financial incentives to 
delay evictions.

Young Person’s Team

The Young Persons Team is a partnership between the Council, Specialist Children’s 
Services and the YMCA. The aim of the team is to assess the needs of 16/17 year 
olds with homeless prevention being a focal point of activity. The team works to 
resolve family relationship problems with the objective of mediating the young person 
back into the family home. A crash pad at the YMCA is used to help support young 
people who are homeless in an emergency.

Sanctuary Scheme

The Council operates a Sanctuary Scheme to enable households at risk of domestic 
abuse to remain living safely in their own accommodation and reduce repeat 
victimisation.  This is made possible through the provision of enhanced security 



18

measures and support, where it is their choice, it is safe, and the perpetrator does not 
live in the accommodation.

Discretionary Housing Payments

Discretionary Housing Payments are extra payments made at the discretion of the 
Council when it considers that a claimant, in receipt of housing benefit, requires further 
financial assistance towards housing costs.  In general, the term ‘housing costs’ 
means rental liability, but housing costs can be interpreted more widely to include rent 
in advance, deposits or other lump sum costs associated with housing need such as 
removal costs. Discretionary Housing Payments are administered by the Revenues & 
Benefits department of the Council.

Porchlight

Porchlight is a Kent based charity that helps vulnerable and isolated people access 
housing and related support services. Their floating support service works to prevent 
homelessness by addressing issues that affect housing security. Their Rough Sleeper 
Service helps to provide short term solutions to homelessness including finding the 
most appropriate accommodation for each person. From October 2015, Porchlight has 
been providing a drop-in service at the Civic Centre to provide assistance to single 
homeless people. 

Homeless joint working protocols

The Council is a member of the Kent Joint Policy & Planning Board (Housing) and 
through this partnership, has adopted a number of Kent-wide homeless joint working 
protocols for emergency accommodation, offenders, mental health hospital discharge, 
people with physical disabilities and intentionally homeless families with children.

Multi Agency Hub 

From 2018, and in direct response to the Homeless Reduction Act 2017, Dartford 
Borough Council will be working with a number of agencies situated in the Civic 
Centre, in a multi-agency hub to deliver effective prevention outcomes.  Direct and 
appropriate assistance  will be available for every applicant’s housing issue or 
homelessness risk; with the most appropriate service tasked with delivery.  This is the 
first time that all relevant agencies have come together in one place to ensure that 
clients receive the most effective help and prevent homelessness wherever possible.

7.3 Securing accommodation

7.3.1 Local authorities need to consider that a range of accommodation is likely to be 
required for people who are, or may become, homeless. 

7.3.2 Temporary accommodation (TA)

If a main homelessness duty is owed, the applicant may have to be placed into 
temporary accommodation before an offer of settled accommodation is made. 

The local authority may also place applicants into temporary accommodation under an 
interim duty to accommodate, (pending a decision as to whether a main homelessness 
duty is owed), if they have reason to believe the applicant may be homeless, eligible 
for assistance and in priority need.



19

The definition of TA includes nightly paid accommodation (Bed & Breakfast, privately 
managed accommodation with shared facilities or self-contained accommodation), 
hostels, local authority/private registered provider stock, leased properties and other 
stock.

The number of households placed in TA has steadily increased since 2014 reflecting 
the increase in the number of households accepted as homeless, the main reason 
being the loss of private rented accommodation.  At the end of quarter 4, 2017 there 
were 108 households placed in TA, compared to 52 in the same quarter in 2014.

Chart 9: Numbers in all types of temporary accommodation 2014/2015 – 2016/2017

Qtr 1 
14/15

Qtr 2 
14/15

Qtr 3 
14/15

Qtr 4 
14/15

Qtr 1 
15/16

Qtr 2 
15/16

Qtr 3 
15/16

Qtr 4 
15/16

Qtr 1 
16/17

Qtr 2 
16/17

Qtr 2 
16/17

Qtr 4 
16/17

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

The Council does not place homeless households into shared accommodation unless 
it is absolutely necessary. The types of temporary accommodation used are either 
nightly paid, privately managed accommodation (either self-contained or with shared 
facilities) or accommodation within the Council’s own stock. 

The length of time spent in temporary accommodation largely depends on the 
availability of suitable accommodation in the borough. The aim is to minimise the 
length of time spent in temporary accommodation, particularly for households with 
dependent children/pregnant women and 16/17 year olds. During the review period 
there has only been one case each of a household with dependent children/pregnant 
woman and a 16/17 year old being in temporary accommodation for longer than six 
weeks.

7.3.3 Activities carried out to help secure accommodation

Social rented housing 

Social rented housing is allocated to people in housing need through a choice-based 
lettings scheme; Kent Homechoice. Applicants accepted onto the scheme are placed 
into one of four bands (A to D) which determine their level of priority for housing (A 
being highest priority and D lowest priority). Applicants assessed as Band E are not 
eligible to join the housing register and have no priority for housing.  When a suitable 
vacant property becomes available, applicants are able to bid for the property. The 
applicant with the highest priority and longest time on the register, will usually be 
successful in securing the property.   
 

Source: P1E



20

Under the Council’s Allocations Policy, homeless households are assisted through the 
choice-based lettings scheme if they meet certain criteria:

Criteria for homeless households under the allocations policy

Band C:
 People who are homeless where the local authority has accepted a rehousing responsibility under 

Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended), or determined that the person has a priority need 
for accommodation or the household will be homeless soon and is in priority need

 Homeless applicants with no fixed abode where proof of local connection can be established 
through for example doctors, dental, job centre or council held records. 

Band D:
 People who are intentionally homeless where a decision has been made by the local authority 

under Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended)  
 Where a person has deliberately worsened their housing circumstances (such as deliberate 

overcrowding) and would have been found to be intentionally homeless if an application under Part 
VII had been made

 People who are homeless by another local authority. This applies where a duty is owed by another 
local authority under section 190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) of the Housing Act 1996, or who are 
occupying accommodation secured by another local authority under section 192(3) 

 Applicants who have been placed in long term temporary accommodation by the Council  

In some cases, a direct and final suitable offer may also be made to households owed 
a duty under S.193.   Applicants who are working receive additional priority and are 
placed in Band B.

Affordable housing development

Affordable housing development is a very important element of the Council’s work to 
assist households whose needs are not met by the private market. It includes social 
rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, for example shared ownership.  

The Council’s current policy is to seek 30% of homes provided on qualifying urban 
sites (i.e. sites of more than 0.5 hectares or 15 homes or more) to be affordable 
homes, and 50% on rural sites containing 2 or more units. The table below shows the 
number of affordable homes delivered during the review period.  Dartford is in the top 
5 of all Kent authorities for affordable housing delivery per population head.

Table: 5 Number of affordable homes delivered
2014/2015 151
2015/2016 103
2016/2017 239

The Council entered into an agreement with the Secretary of State to enable capital 
receipts from the sale of its properties under Right to Buy to be retained and invested 
in the provision of new council housing for rent. 

The Council has planning permission for the development of 86 new homes to be 
delivered up to 2019.  The first development, completed in 2017 has provided 25 new 
homes for local people and is a mix of flats and houses.  An additional 4 homes were 
converted for affordable rent from a former Oast House.

The Council has now progressed the second phase of its new build project which will 
provide an additional 55 units for rent across two sites.

Source: Dartford Borough Council



21

Private rented sector

The Dartford Private Leasing Scheme is operated by the Council and is an important 
means of securing accommodation, as well as preventing homelessness. The scheme 
works by leasing properties from private landlords to temporarily house homeless 
people. During the two year lease period, the Council guarantees to pay the agreed 
rent in advance on a quarterly basis.  

The Council also operates a Deposit Guarantee Scheme where the Council provides 
the landlord with a guarantee for the required deposit, up to a maximum of four weeks 
rent.

 
Kent Agency Assessment

The Kent Agency Assessment is a process for Health or Social Services professionals 
(and their agents) to refer any service user who has a housing related health/support 
need to the Council for help accessing suitable accommodation. The assessment 
assists up to 20 households a year to secure suitable accommodation. 

Joint Housing Panels

This multi-agency panel, led by Dartford Borough Council, looks at and agrees any 
applications for Housing Related Support accommodation within the borough.  This 
includes the YMCA, Daisies and LIFE Housing and looks at residents that may need to 
be fast tracked into social housing.

Severe Weather Emergency Protocol for Rough Sleepers

During periods of extreme cold weather, the Council operates a Severe Weather 
Emergency Protocol which is triggered when the night time temperature is predicted to 
be zero degrees Celsius or below for three consecutive nights. When the protocol is 
triggered, emergency accommodation will be provided for any person sleeping rough 
in the borough so that it can prevent unnecessary deaths during the cold snap.

Dartford Churches Cold Weather Shelter

The Dartford Churches Cold Weather Shelter is a joint initiative between seven 
churches in the borough. The shelter operates between January and March, providing 
a hot meal and an overnight stay for homeless people. The Council has committed 
£10k to this project for winter 2017/2018,

Domestic Abuse

Centra provide four refuges in Dartford and Gravesham for up to 17 women and 35 
children who have had to leave their home as a result of domestic abuse and also 
manage the IDVA and Outreach Services

Choices, formerly North Kent Women’s Aid, also provide a number of domestic abuse 
services within the borough including those for young people. They also provide hostel 
accommodation in Gravesham for up to 7 homeless single young people aged 
between 16 and 25 years old.

http://www.nkwa.org.uk/index.asp?ID=105
http://www.nkwa.org.uk/index.asp?ID=105


22

7.4 Providing support

7.4.1 Homelessness cannot be tackled solely through the provision of accommodation. 
Some households will require a range of support services to help prevent 
homelessness from occurring in the first place; or to help sustain accommodation in 
order to prevent homelessness from recurring; or help to access other services to 
improve their quality of life and resilience to further problems. 

7.4.2 Activities carried out to help provide support

Domestic Abuse One Stop Shop

The Domestic Abuse One Stop Shop offers free advice, information and support from 
a range of agencies, including the Council’s Housing Options and Private Sector 
Team, under one roof to help victims of domestic abuse. The service is held every 
Tuesday from 9:30am to 12pm at the Brent Children's Centre.

Linking homeless households to GPs

Homeless households living in temporary accommodation, and sometimes moving 
from one address to another, can lose touch with Primary Health Care Services such 
as GPs. The Council ensures that homeless households accessing the service are 
provided with information about local GPs and how to register at local surgeries.  

HERO Project

The HERO Project is an advice project set up by Sevenoaks District Council. The aim 
of the project is to get people back to work and prevent homelessness. The project 
offers independent advice and individual support on a range of issues including 
unemployment, housing advice, maximising income, debt advice, obtaining bank 
accounts, training and education, saving money on energy and getting online. 

The Council commissioned the HERO Project to work in the borough from November 
2015 to help customers prepare for Universal Credit.  This is ongoing.

Housing related support

Housing related support is administered by Kent County Council and provides a range 
of support to help people who are having difficulties with their housing situation to 
remain independent and resolve the difficulties they are having. The support can range 
from a few weeks up to one year.

Kent Support and Assistance Service

The Kent Support and Assistance Service is administered by Kent County Council and 
offers support to people having serious difficulties managing their income or facing 
exceptional pressures because of an emergency or crisis. 



23

8.0 RESOURCES
___________________________________________________________________

8.1 Homeless Prevention Grant

8.1.1 For many years local authorities have been in receipt of Homelessness Prevention 
Grant funding from central Government. This grant helps to deliver the activities 
carried out by the Council for the prevention and tackling of homelessness (as outlined 
in Section 7). 

8.1.2 In 2013/14 the mechanism for paying Homeless Prevention Grant was changed from 
being ring-fenced to being rolled into the Business Rates Retention Scheme. Since 
this change, the Council has ensured that the grant continues to be fully allocated 
towards homelessness prevention services and not diverted elsewhere. 

8.1.3 The following table shows the Homelessness Prevention Grant allocations received by 
the Council over the last three years:
Table 6: Homelessness Prevention Grant – 2014-15 to 2016-17

2014-15 £106,500
2015-16 £106,500

2016/2017 £106,500
 

8.2 Discretionary Housing Payments

8.2.1 The Council receives Discretionary Housing Payment funding from central 
Government which was increased in recent years to allow local authorities to offer 
ongoing support to people affected by the welfare reforms.   

9.0 KEY CHALLENGES
___________________________________________________________________

9.1. Historically, one of the key ways the Council has been successful in preventing 
homelessness is through securing accommodation in the private rented sector. A large 
procurement of temporary accommodation in the borough has also been used for 
homeless households who are waiting for a decision on their application, or if a main 
homelessness duty is owed and the household is waiting for secure accommodation to 
become available. 

9.2 In recent years, it has become increasingly difficult to source and retain private rented 
accommodation for the provision of both permanent and temporary accommodation for 
homeless households. This is mainly due to the following factors:

9.3 Demand

9.3.1 Private renting is the second largest tenure (following home ownership) both locally 
and nationally. It is a sector that has grown in size over recent years. With rising house 
prices, the value of deposits paid to secure a mortgage increasing and tighter lending 
requirements; there has been a decline in the number of first time buyers entering into 
home ownership and a surge in demand for the private rented sector.   

Source: Dartford Borough Council



24

9.4 Location 

9.4.1 Dartford is uniquely placed bordering London, serving as an important commuter town 
for residents working in the capital. With the location and demand, private landlords 
are in a strong position to attract a young professional market over benefit-dependent 
households. Indeed, the review has identified that the loss of private rented 
accommodation has now become the main cause of homelessness in the borough as 
private landlords have a right to end tenancies in order to charge higher rents to 
working private renters.

9.5 Welfare reforms  

9.5.1 Welfare reforms reduced the setting of Local Housing Allowance (the maximum 
amount of housing benefit) rates in the private rented sector from the 50th percentile to 
the 30th percentile of the local market; capped weekly rates; and changed the method 
for uprating the rates. As a result the expenditure on Local Housing Allowance was 
reduced and, for the majority of properties in Dartford, there is a shortfall between the 
rate and the rent levels. 

9.5.2 The government increased its contribution to the Discretionary Housing Payment 
budget to assist claimants in making up the shortfall. However, this is not a permanent 
solution and cannot be considered sustainable for these households in the long-term.  

9.5.3 The reforms also increased the shared accommodation rate age threshold from 25 to 
35. This means that the amount of Local Housing Allowance entitlement for single 
under-35 year olds in the private rented sector is the rate of renting a room in a shared 
property. As a result, accommodation options for single people under the age of 35 are 
very limited. 

9.6 Out of borough placements

9.6.1 Welfare reforms, rising property prices and rents as well as an increasing shortage of 
affordable accommodation in London, has led to many London boroughs placing 
homeless households into both permanent and temporary private rented 
accommodation outside of their areas, including into Dartford. This is further limiting 
the availability of stock for in-borough placements.

9.6.2 As the hosting local authority pays the Local Housing Allowance, London boroughs are 
also in a position to pay landlords a significant amount more in incentives and LHA to 
encourage use of their own private sector leasing schemes. In addition, with fewer 
private rented properties being procured for the Council’s own private sector leasing 
schemes, it is difficult to make full use of the power to discharge a homelessness duty 
into the private rented; placing further pressure on the use of temporary 
accommodation stock. 

9.6.3 As a result, the shortage of suitable properties for use as temporary accommodation in 
the borough, has led to the Council having to place households into temporary 

In 2017 in Dartford:

Average weekly rent for a 2 bed property                         £249
Local weekly Housing Allowance for a 2 bed property                           £153
Shortfall                                                                                                         £96



25

accommodation outside of the borough. At the end of quarter 4 in 2016/17there were 9 
households accommodated in another borough compared to 15 in the same quarter 
the previous year.

9.7 Shortage of social housing stock

9.7.1 Under the Council’s Allocations Policy, homeless households are assisted through the 
choice-based lettings scheme if they meet certain criteria. However, there is a 
shortage of social housing stock within the borough meaning that demand far 
outweighs supply as more applicants are registered on the scheme than properties 
available.

10.0 CONSULTATION OUTCOMES
___________________________________________________________________

10.1 Aim of the consultation

10.1.1 The consultation activity that has formed part of this review, aimed to ensure that 
stakeholders had an impact on decision-making and service delivery. Listening to 
stakeholder’s experiences and what is important to them is central to understanding 
how the homelessness service can respond to and reflect their needs.  

10.1.2 A number of stakeholder groups were consulted, including service users, partners and 
council staff members.  A summary of the consultation outcomes are outlined below.

10.2 Service users

10.2.1 A survey was sent to service users in August 2017.  The results of the survey 
indicated that overall people were happy with the service provided by the Council.  The 
full survey can be found in Annex 2. 

10.3 Partners 

10.3.1 Statutory and voluntary sector partners were invited to take part in a focus group. 
There were 11 attendees and those who could not attend had the opportunity to give 
their feedback via a survey. 

10.3.2  Good practice

 Partners highlighted that the Council has a good reputation across Kent. The 
Council is effective at working in partnership with statutory and voluntary agencies. 
Meetings cover all partners’ agendas and information is shared and communicated 
well. Council officers are approachable and willing to give advice.

 There is a straightforward approach to homeless applications with few barriers. 
Applications are appropriately and holistically investigated. 

 The Council offers a fair service, takes a pragmatic approach and delivers what it 
says it is going to do, taking ownership of actions. 

10.3.3 Challenges

 Partners agreed that the shortage of both temporary and permanent 
accommodation in the borough presents the most significant challenge to the 



26

Council. It is positive that the Council is building homes but it is only a small 
amount of homes in comparison to the amount that is needed. There was also a 
concern that the extension of the Right to Buy to tenants of housing associations 
could further deplete the social housing stock.

 Dartford’s locality and the issue of placements into the borough by London 
boroughs, was raised as challenge that is impacting on the supply of private 
rented accommodation for local people. More financial resources are needed to 
combat this.

 High private sector rents and the shortfall in Local Housing Allowance rates were 
cited as an issue alongside the impact of the shared accommodation rate and the 
restriction of housing benefit for 18 to 21 year olds. 

 It was recognised that any reduction in homelessness funding will considerably 
impact on current good practice. 

10.3.4 Improvements and working together

 Partners suggested that more needs to be done to increase the supply of 
accommodation and to promote different models of housing. Relationships need to 
be built with private sector landlords in order to tap into this valuable resource.  
With housing demand exceeding supply, the expectations of service users should 
be effectively managed by providing appropriate advice on all housing options.

 It was felt that support is a very important element of preventing homelessness. 
Early intervention work is paramount in preventing housing problems reaching 
crisis point. Getting it right first time is the most effective way of avoiding the 
revolving door of homelessness. Suggestions for increasing support included:

 Having a dedicated support worker, similar to the ‘Team Around the Family 
Model’, where the service user is at the centre of the process and the Support 
Worker co-ordinates support from a wide range of agencies 

 Organising workshops for service users to help them gain essential skills e.g. 
in money management, computer skills, CV writing etc

 Organising drop-in events with key partners who provide support so they can 
promote their services  

 Having a floating support drop-in facility at the Civic Centre

 Some partners commented that if housing benefit claim times and the processing 
of changes of circumstances times are reduced, this would reduce rent arrears 
and the risk of problems with the landlord.

 Partners suggested lobbying on matters such as increasing the Local Housing 
Allowance rate to match London rates and for rent controls in the private rented 
sector.

 Continuing with the sharing of information and multi-agency meetings was seen as 
important in working together as well as more joint working with certain agencies 
such as Troubled Families Programme, DWP and Job Centre Plus 



27

10.4 Dartford Borough Council staff

10.4.1 Representatives from the Housing Options & Private Sector team and other Council 
departments were invited to attend two focus groups. 17 staff members attended the 
focus groups. 

10.4.2 Good practice

 Staff echoed partners in emphasising the effective joint working with statutory and 
voluntary agencies as well having as good inter-departmental working 
relationships. The Young Person’s Team and the Kent Agency Assessment were 
highlighted as particular positive examples of joint working.

 It was commented that service users follow a streamlined and clear pathway and 
that the service is accessible. For example, the same officer is assigned to a case 
from beginning to end and is on hand after a decision is made, thereby providing 
continuity. In addition, service users do not have to wait for an appointment and 
can speak to an advisor on the same day

 Staff felt they are approachable, empathetic, proactive, informative, 
knowledgeable on legislation and not afraid to make difficult decisions.

 A particularly positive element of the service noted is the work carried out to 
mediate with families and landlords in order to prevent eviction.

10.4.3 Challenges

 As with the partner consultation, staff agreed that the shortage of both temporary 
and permanent accommodation in the borough presents the most significant 
challenge to the Council. 

 Likewise, Dartford’s locality and issue of placements into the borough by London 
boroughs impacts on the supply of private rented accommodation for local people. 
Staff raised concerns of having to place households into temporary 
accommodation outside of the borough because of a lack of available 
accommodation in the borough. 

 Staff acknowledged there can be a stigma attached to being a benefit claimant 
e.g. ‘No DSS’ in private sector property adverts. There is a need to break down 
barriers with private sector landlords so that they have trust in renting to benefit 
recipients. However, it was also recognised that the shortfall between private 
sector rents and Local Housing Allowance rates is not an incentive for private 
sector landlords to rent to benefit recipients. 

 The numbers of households on the housing register is increasing which can lead 
to a long wait for accommodation into social housing.

 Whilst there are positive working relationships with partners, maintaining these 
relationships is important. 

10.4.4 Improvements and working together

 As with the partner consultation, staff suggested there is a need for an increase in 
the supply of accommodation. Staff also agreed that relationships need to be built 



28

with private sector landlords in order to tap into this valuable resource. One 
example of engaging with landlords is to provide a social lettings agency where 
the management of the property and tenancy is taken on by the Council among 
other incentives offered to the landlord. This could then enable the greater use of 
the power to discharge the homelessness duty into the private rented sector.

 It was suggested that if the length of assured shorthold tenancies were increased 
to five years, this would provide greater stability to households.

 Increasing staff and the homelessness budget was seen as a way to enable more 
to be done in the prevention of homelessness.

 Staff suggested that some interdepartmental communications could be enhanced 
further. For example: 

 To have a direct contact in the Benefits department who specialises in 
homelessness cases   

 To work more closely with the Finance department to forward plan and 
forecast budgets

 To use IT more effectively, such as having one IT system between services or 
linking IT systems 

 To organise in-house cross training

 It was highlighted that it would be beneficial to explore more options for assisting 
single non priority need households.

 Further suggestions included ideas such as creating an online housing portal 
similar to NHS Direct, facilitating multi-agency advice hubs at the Civic Centre and 
in the town, and arranging an annual seminar to bring partners together to share 
ideas and best practice.

11.0 CONCLUSIONS
___________________________________________________________________

11.1 Conclusions 
11.1.1 This review has highlighted that overall, homeless decisions and acceptances have 

remained relatively stable, although there was an increase in 2014/15 which occurred 
alongside a decrease in homeless preventions. This will need to be closely monitored 
as pressure on the homeless prevention service appears to be increasing.

11.1.2 The main cause of homelessness is because of the loss of tied or rented 
accommodation in the private rented sector, mainly due to the termination of an 
assured shorthold tenancy. This cause of homelessness has increased significantly 
since the last review. Violence and other relatives or friends no longer willing to 
accommodate are the second and third highest causes of homelessness.

11.1.3 The use of temporary accommodation has increased.  The supply of temporary 
accommodation is also diminishing which has led to the Council having to make use of 
temporary accommodation outside of the borough.

11.1.4 The Council is currently making direct offers of accommodation into its own housing 
stock in order to discharge its homelessness duty. However, the demand for social 



29

housing considerably outweighs the supply and can mean a lengthy wait before a 
suitable property becomes available.  

11.1.5 Overall, the factors surrounding welfare reforms, rising housing costs and lack of 
supply of sufficient move-on accommodation can leave homeless household feeling 
unsettled and anxious about their future. The main challenge for the next 
Homelessness Strategy will be to mitigate the impact of these factors and create 
opportunities to further develop and improve the service. This is of course only 
possible with a continued commitment for funding homeless prevention by central 
government.  

11.2 Next steps
11.2.1 This review will be made available on the Council’s website for all stakeholders and 

the wider public to view at www.dartford.gov.uk.  Paper copies of this document can 
also be obtained upon request by contacting the Housing Policy Team at 
HousingPolicy@dartford.gov.uk, or writing to: Housing Policy, Dartford Borough 
Council, Civic Centre, Home Gardens Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR. 

11.2.2 Having completed the review, the Council is now in a position to start formulating its 
revised Homelessness Strategy. Invitations to comment on the draft revised Strategy 
will be requested from members of the public and stakeholder organisations. After the 
consultation period is over, the final version of the Strategy will be approved by 
Members of the Council and published. 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:HousingPolicy@dartford.gov.uk


30

ANNEX 1: 
DELIVERY OF PREVIOUS HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 
___________________________________________________________________

STRATEGIC PRIORITY ONE – PREVENTION
To prevent homelessness, wherever possible

No. Task Outcome
1a Formulate a referral agreement and procedure 

with a mediation provider
Not achieved
Not considered VFM. Staff are experienced 
in mediation and providers are used on an 
ad-hoc basis

1b Explore the feasibility of setting up a pilot 
Young Person’s Team with Children Social 
Services

Achieved
Young Persons Team in place from Nov 2011. 
Model to be adopted Kent-wide in 2016

1c Roll out the education programme across 
secondary schools in Dartford

Not achieved
Not progressed due to a lack of interest from 
schools

1d Take part in discussions around the use of 
Rough Sleeper Funding for Kent

Achieved
It was agreed that the funding will be used by 
Porchlight

1e Give training in basic debt advice to Housing 
Advisors

In progress
Liaising with Shelter to provide training

1f Explore the feasibility of the Housing Service 
influencing decisions about Discretionary 
Housing Payments for homeless cases and 
include this in the SLA with the Benefits 
Service

Ongoing
Some discretion is given on using DHP for 
deposits and rent in advice. Further 
discussions will take place

1g Approach Health partners to set up a local 
hospital discharge protocol

Not achieved
Some discussions have been held with the 
local hospital and will be progressed

1h Put in place mechanisms to enable private 
sector landlords to make referrals to the 
homeless prevention service if their tenants 
are experiencing tenancy sustainment 
difficulties

In progress
This is promoted at the Landlords Forum

1i Offer housing advice in prisons to prisoners 
with a Dartford connection

Not achieved
Discussions were held with prisons but has 
not been progressed any further

STRATEGIC PRIORITY  TWO – ACCOMMODATION 
To provide a range of accommodation for homeless households, making innovative 
use of solutions in the private rented sector alongside more traditional methods
No. Task Outcome
2a Investigate the feasibility of using DPLS 

properties during the Child in Need 
assessment period

No longer to be progressed
The Young Persons Team aims to prevent the 
need for the use of temporary accommodation

2b Review the Deposit Guarantee Scheme and 
implement any improvements identified 
through the review

Not achieved
To be progressed

2c Review the Dartford Private Sector Leasing 
Scheme and implement any improvements 
identified through the review

Ongoing
The Senior Private Sector Housing Officer 
continues to review this on an ongoing basis

2d Explore different ways of working with 
AmicusHorizon to procure private sector 
properties

Not progressed
Amicus Horizon did not demonstrate that 
they are able to take on any extra 
responsibility. This arm of the business has 



31

been disbanded
2e Carry out research, including a single 

homeless survey, into the need for a short-
term supported accommodation scheme in the 
borough for single homeless people

Not achieved
Resource issue

2f Look for more affordable and cost effective 
housing solutions to the use of temporary 
accommodation

Ongoing
This has been made difficult with a decline in 
the availability of temporary accommodation

2g Carry out property accreditation inspections on 
Deposit Guarantee Scheme and Private 
Sector Leasing Scheme properties alongside 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System 
inspections

Achieved
Implemented by the Senior Private Sector 
Housing Officer

STRATEGIC PRIORITY  THREE – SUPPORT
To ensure there is sufficient and appropriate support to meet the needs of various 
client groups, particularly those who are vulnerable
No. Task Outcome
3a Carry out a review of the domestic abuse 

‘Directory of Services’ for Dartford and 
Gravesham’

Not achieved
Resource issue

3b Explore how the Council can work in 
partnership with other interested services to 
help support women with no recourse to public 
funds who are victims of domestic abuse

Ongoing
Meeting took place on the 30 Sep 2015

3c Carry out a review of the ‘Dealing with Debt’ 
booklet

Not achieved
Resource issue

3d Publicise the advice and assistance available 
to home owners in mortgage difficulties

Achieved
Page set up on the DBC website for 
homeowners in mortgage difficulties. MRS is 
no longer available in Dartford

3e Publicise the Deposit Guarantee Scheme Ongoing
This is promoted at the Landlords Forum

3f Produce information around local health 
services, nutrition and exercise; and 
disseminate this to new Council tenants and to 
people the Council houses in the private 
sector

Not progressed
DBC’s Healthy Living Co-ordinator arranges 
and promotes healthy living programmes 
across the borough

3g Publish a private sector landlord newsletter 
twice a year

Not achieved
Resource issue

3h Produce a leaflet on basic housing advice and 
the services available to homeless households

Not progressed
Information is contained on the DBC website. 
The JPPB has produced and ‘Moving In or 
Moving On’ booklet that gives this information 

3i Regularly review DBC website information on 
homelessness and housing advice

Achieved
Regular reviews are undertaken. Last 
reviewed 30 Sep 2017

3j Develop an online self-help tool which offers 
customers basic housing advice and 
information. Display this in reception and 
review it on a 6 monthly basis

Not achieved
To be incorporated into the pre-assessment 
project under Kent Homechoice

3k Provide housing option packs to hand out at 
housing advice appointments

Not achieved
To be progressed

3l Enable interested partner organisations 
access to HELP software

Ongoing
On the HSIG agenda 2 Oct 2015. Now called 
the Referrals Module

3m Explore any further opportunities to deliver 
EHO services

Not achieved
No longer a government priority



32

STRATEGIC PRIORITY FOUR – PARTNERSHIP WORKING
To work with local organisations to provide a co-ordinated approach to tackling and 
preventing homelessness
No. Task Outcome
4a Organise joint refresher training between the 

Council and local partners to the Kent Young 
Person’s Protocol

No longer to be progressed
As DBC has set up the Young Persons Team 
this protocol is not currently in use

4b Formalise a joint assessment process 
between the Council and Children Social 
Services where a young person approaches 
either service for assistance under the young 
person’s protocol

Achieved
Joint assessments are taking place under the 
Young Persons Team

4c Annually review the domestic abuse One-
Stop-Shop

In progress
Meeting currently being arranged

4d Raise awareness about MARAC to other DBC 
departments

Achieved
Domestic Abuse Procedure for Housing 
Services developed and a briefing session 
was held in Nov 2011. Briefing note for other 
DBC departments disseminated

4e Take part in awareness raising sessions for 
the housing and resettlement of offenders 
protocol

Achieved
Training held at the Trinity Foyer on 13 Jul 
2011 and a further event was held in 2013 at 
Ashford Borough Council. Now currently 
being reviewed by the JPPB

4f Discuss with JARS partners incorporating the 
existing five placement per year quota with 
YMCA Thames Gateway into the JARS

Achieved
The Kent Agency Assessment has been 
adopted and incorporated into the Allocations 
Policy

4g Discuss with JARS partners the possibility of 
incorporating the existing one placement per 
year quota through Kent Probation into the 
JARS

Achieved
As 4f

4h In light of discussions around expanding 
membership of the JARS partnership; carry 
out a review of the operational working 
practices under the scheme (including a 
review of the quota six months after this 
review)

Achieved
As 4f

4i Once the review of JARS is complete, deliver 
training around any changes in working 
practices and awareness raising sessions 
amongst partners

Achieved
As 4f

4j Review the SLA between the Housing Service 
and the Benefits Department

Not achieved
Meeting to be arranged with the Benefits 
Manager

4k Set up regular liaison meetings with the 
Benefits Department

Ongoing
Although sporadic, meetings do take place

4l Feedback the outcome of HSIG meetings to 
the Landlords Forum as a regular standing 
item on their agenda

Ongoing
This is ongoing

4m Set up regular liaison meetings with private 
sector landlords who provide accommodation 
to the Council

Not progressed 
The current economic climate has made it 
difficult to engage with landlords

STRATEGIC PRIORITY FIVE - MONITORING
To keep up to date with homelessness trends, customer satisfaction, government 
policy, legislation and good practice in the area of homeless prevention
No. Task Outcome
5a Keep up to date with government policy, 

legislative changes and good practice in the 
area of homelessness and disseminate this to 
partners

Ongoing
Disseminated through the HSIG

5b Annually evaluate the extent of rough sleeping Ongoing
Annual estimates submitted to government



33

5c Monitor the impact of the Housing Benefit and 
wider benefit reforms on homelessness in 
terms of levels of approaches. Report any 
updates to the HSIG and decide on any 
remedial action

Ongoing
This is ongoing

5d Track and monitor HELP referrals Not achieved
Unable to progress until task 3l is completed

5e Amend the Homelessness Prevention 
Application Form to record applicants from the 
Gypsy and Traveller Community

Achieved
The vulnerability needs assessment has 
been added to the homeless application form

5f Change the Homeless Prevention Form so 
that it more accurately measures disability

In progress
Meeting arranged in April and review of form 
will incorporate this

5g Assess the likely impact of the ending of A8 
nationals on the Housing Service and develop 
plans to respond to any likely increases in 
approaches from this group

Ongoing
Monitoring is ongoing

5h Develop mechanisms to collect satisfaction 
feedback from service users who receive 
advice only

Not achieved
To be progressed

5i Carry out mystery shopping on the 
homelessness service

Not achieved
To be progressed

 



34

ANNEX 2

HOUSING OPTIONS CUSTOMER SATISFACTION SURVEY

Q1 Which family group do you consider yourself to be in?
Answered: 33 Skipped: 0

Single

Couple, no children

Couple, pregnant

Single person,
pregnant

Lone parent

Couple with
children

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Single 21.21% 7

Couple, no children 6.06% 2

Couple, pregnant 0.00% 0

Single person, pregnant 0.00% 0

Lone parent 51.52% 17

Couple with children 21.21% 7

TOTAL 33



35

Q2 How difficult or easy was it to contact  us?
Answered: 33 Skipped: 0

Very easy

Fairly easy

Neither easy or difficult

Fairly difficult

Very difficult

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Very easy 27.27% 9

Fairly easy 27.27% 9

Neither easy or difficult 18.18% 6

Fairly difficult 21.21% 7

Very difficult 6.06% 2

TOTAL 33



36

Q3 How satisfied or dissatisfied were you with the information and/or 
advice you were initially  given?

Answered: 32 Skipped: 1

Not applicable

Very satisfied

Fairly satisfied

Neither satisfied or...

Fairly dissatisfied

Very dissatisfied

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Not applicable 6.25% 2

Very satisfied 25.00% 8

Fairly satisfied 28.13% 9

Neither satisfied or dissatisfied 12.50% 4

Fairly dissatisfied 9.38% 3

Very dissatisfied 18.75% 6

TOTAL 32



37

Q4 In general, how satisfied or dissatisfied were you with your 
interview/s?
Answered: 27 Skipped: 6

Not applicable

Very satisfied

Fairly satisfied

Neither satisfied or...

Fairly dissatisfied

Very dissatisfied

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Not applicable 7.41% 2

Very satisfied 33.33% 9

Fairly satisfied 22.22% 6

Neither satisfied or dissatisfied 22.22% 6

Fairly dissatisfied 3.70% 1

Very dissatisfied 11.11% 3

TOTAL 27



38

Q5 How satisfied or dissatisfied were you with the 
information/advice you received about your housing  options?

Answered: 27 Skipped: 6

Not applicable

Very satisfied

Fairly satisfied

Neither satisfied or...

Fairly dissatisfied

Very dissatisfied

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Not applicable 7.41% 2

Very satisfied 25.93% 7

Fairly satisfied 18.52% 5

Neither satisfied or dissatisfied 25.93% 7

Fairly dissatisfied 3.70% 1

Very dissatisfied 18.52% 5

TOTAL 27



39

Q6 If we have sent you a letter, how easy or difficult was it for you to 
understand?

Answered: 27 Skipped: 6

Did not receive a...

Very easy

Fairly easy

Neither easy or difficult

Fairly difficult

Very difficult

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Did not receive a letter 29.63% 8

Very easy 25.93% 7

Fairly easy 22.22% 6

Neither easy or difficult 11.11% 3

Fairly difficult 11.11% 3

Very difficult 0.00% 0

TOTAL 27



40

Q7 If the Housing Options Team has provided you with temporary 
emergency accommodation, how satisfied are you/were you with   it?

Answered: 25 Skipped: 8

Not applicable

Very satisfied

Fairly satisfied

Neither satisfied or...

Fairly dissatisfied

Very dissatisfied

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Not applicable 32.00% 8

Very satisfied 24.00% 6

Fairly satisfied 16.00% 4

Neither satisfied or dissatisfied 8.00% 2

Fairly dissatisfied 0.00% 0

Very dissatisfied 20.00% 5

TOTAL 25



41

Q8 If you have now been housed, what type of accommodation 
were you housed into?

Answered: 25 Skipped: 8

Not applicable

Council

Housing Association

Privately Rented

Hostel

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Not applicable 28.00% 7

Council 36.00% 9

Housing Association 4.00% 1

Privately Rented 16.00% 4

Hostel 4.00% 1

Other (please specify) 12.00% 3

TOTAL 25



42

Q9 How satisfied are you with the accommodation that you were 
housed in (not temporary  accommodation)

Answered: 25 Skipped: 8

Not applicable

Very satisfied

Fairly satisfied

Neither satisfied or...

Fairly dissatisfied

Very dissatisfied

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Not applicable 36.00% 9

Very satisfied 32.00% 8

Fairly satisfied 12.00% 3

Neither satisfied or dissatisfied 0.00% 0

Fairly dissatisfied 4.00% 1

Very dissatisfied 16.00% 4

TOTAL 25



Q10 Overall, what do you think of the service that you received from 
the Housing Options Team?

Answered: 23 Skipped: 10

Excellent

Very good

Good

Poor

Very poor

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Excellent 21.74% 5

Very good 30.43% 7

Good 26.09% 6

Poor 17.39% 4

Very poor 4.35% 1

TOTAL 23





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 February 2018

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT – SECTION 5 HOUSING 
AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES 

1. Summary

1.1 Corporate Performance Indicator “Repairs completed on Time” as detailed in 
Appendix B to the report to Cabinet dated 7 December 2017 has been drawn 
down to Scrutiny Committee. This report gives the background to the Performance 
Indicator.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee note the contents of the Cabinet report and Appendix B of 
7 December 2017 (attached as Appendix A and B respectively to this report) 
together with this response, and any further background provided by Officers 
at Committee on 6 February 2018.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Housing Maintenance team completed 10,570 reactive repairs in 2016/17 
in relation to the 4231 DBC properties and from 01st April 2017 to the end of 
December 2017 8,059 repairs have been completed over a stock of 4234.

3.2 Each repair is categorised in terms of urgency. For example, an order to our 
Contractor for a leak to a pipe will be issued on a 2 hour priority, where as a 
repair to a fence, that isn’t deemed an H&S issue, may be given a 20 working 
day priority.

  The Councils repairs priorities are listed below;
 Callout – 2 hours
 P1 – 2 hours
 P2 – 48 hours
 P3 – 5 working days
 P4 – 10 working days
 P5 – 20 working days

These priorities are then grouped together and categorised as follows for 
reporting purposes:
 Emergency (Callout+ P1) - Target as set out in the Contract - 100%
 Urgent (P2+P3+P4) - Target as set out in the Contract - 98%
 Non-urgent (P5) - Target as set out in the Contract - 95%
 For the Corporate Plan these three operational PI’s are collated to give an 

overall “Repairs completed on Time” Performance Indicator.

3.3   Completion of reactive repair work is always focussed on the Emergency & 
Urgent priorities as experience tells us that these type of repair requests 
often cause further damage to properties and generally cause more 
inconvenience to tenants, if they are not completed more quickly than non-
urgent repairs. Generally, we try to book in every repair on an urgent & non-
urgent priority to a tenanted property so that the tenant knows when we are 
coming and can prepare accordingly. However, dependent on the number of 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 February 2018

emergency & urgent repairs reported, and our aim to prioritise these kind of 
repairs, appointments for non-urgent works can be changed and this 
negatively impacts on the performance figure for non-urgent jobs completed 
on target.

3.4 Each group of priorities (emergency, urgent and non-urgent) are monitored 
separately for performance analysis purposes at an operational level. Any 
issues with performance are then discussed with the Contractor as they occur 
and recorded at monthly contract meetings where measures are agreed and 
implemented to improve performance. This is then reported to the Housing 
Maintenance Partnering Project Board which meets quarterly to analyse 
performance of the Contract. This group comprises of Councillors from the 
three main political groups, representatives from the Dartford Borough 
Residents Forum and senior representatives from the DBC Housing 
management team. 

4. Current Performance

4.1 Urgent Repairs Performance

       Urgent repairs are usually those that are not classed as emergencies but have 
an impact on the tenant’s daily life. This type of repair can usually be delivered 
by one multi skilled operative, using standard materials from the contractors 
impressed van stock, in one visit and are relatively low in cost per repair.

4.2 From April 2017 to End December 2017(based on 40 weeks as full year data is 
not available as yet)  3743 urgent repairs were requested and 3389 (91%) were 
completed on time. Urgent repair requests therefore equate to approximately 
46% of the contractor’s workload. This means that 354 repairs were completed 
outside of target during the first 40 weeks of 2017/18 which is approximately 9 
per week. In order to meet the target, 3668 repairs would need to have been 
completed on time meaning that the actual performance was 279 repairs short 
in order to meet the 98% target, or approximately 7 per week. 

4.3 Non - Urgent Repairs Performance

      Non urgent repairs are usually those that have do not impact on the tenant’s 
daily life but require attention. Non urgent repairs typically involve more than 
one operative visiting on more than one occasion on jobs that require materials 
to be ordered/delivered and are generally higher in cost per repair.

4.4  From April 2017 to End December 2017 (based on 40 weeks as full year data 
is not available as yet) 3583 non- urgent repairs were requested and 2878 
(80%) were completed on time. Non- urgent repair requests therefore equate to 
approximately 45% of the contractor’s workload. This means that 705 repairs 
were completed outside of target during the first 40 weeks of 2017/18 which is 
approximately 17 per week. In order to meet the target, 3404 repairs would 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 February 2018

need to be completed on time meaning that the actual performance was 525 
repairs short in order to meet the 95% target, or 13 per week.

4.5    Adverse Weather

A subset of the three repairs categories (emergency, urgent and non-urgent) 
relate to adverse weather and are triggered by one off events such as a 
named storm. In the first 4 weeks of 2017/18 some 89 individual repair 
requests caused by such events were completed and a high majority of 
these had a target date in April 2017. This meant that the Contractor started 
the year on the back foot which is difficult to recover from.

4.6 The remaining 9% of repairs raised in 2017/18 (733 jobs) are emergency 
repair requests requiring a two hour response and take precedent over all 
over repairs. Current performance for this priority, in this period, is at 
98.23%, with just 13 orders being completed out of the 2 hour target (but all 
within 4 hours).

5  Performance Analysis

5.1   The service offered to tenants in terms of repairs by its reactive nature has to 
be flexible in order to cope with peaks and troughs in demand. This also 
needs to be seen in the context of the Contractors resources and ability to 
react to these changes that often occur very quickly whilst also attempting to 
plan its workload over a longer period of time. 

To this end there are numerous contributing factors that can affect our ability 
to meet the targets set which include:

 Adverse weather (making it difficult to complete certain repairs).
 Severe weather damage (high number of repairs in a short period of 

time).
 Increased repair requests (impossible to predict).
 Increased emergency/urgent repairs (impossible to predict).
 Tenants changing appointments (impossible to predict).
 No access provided when operative attends (with or without 

appointment)
 Urgent planned repairs (non-reactive).
 Contractor inability to meet changing demands.
 Contractor’s poor performance.

5.2 The key to good performance is therefore getting the balance between 
resources and workload right against a back drop of a number issues (as 
detailed in 5.2) that are outside the direct control of the Council and the 
Contractor and the Housing team, with oversight from the Housing 
Maintenance Partnering Board over this process.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 February 2018

5.3   Our KPI’s monitored are for guidance purposes only and the real purpose of 
the contract is to ensure that the Council’s assets are being maintained 
properly and to a good standard. Failure on a contractor’s part to meet the 
demanding targets set by DBC does not mean that the stock is suffering as 
a result.

5.4    Urgent Repairs - at the end of 2016/17 the performance in this area was 
below target at 91.34%. The contractor had a backlog of works in progress 
(WIP) of around 200 overdue orders that still needed to be completed in 
2017/18. For performance to get better the overdue orders would have 
needed to be cleared so that new orders could be completed within the set 
target. Although this sounds like a simple task the reality is different. 200 
orders equate to approximately 2 full weeks’ worth of urgent repairs for the 
contractor. Ideally, DBC would like to stop receiving all urgent repairs for a 2 
week period to allow the contractor to catch up with the overdue order. 
However, with new repairs being reported daily by our tenants this simply is 
not an option and all we can do is work with the contractor to provide more 
resource to increase the completion of orders. This problem causes a knock-
on effect on new orders coming in and a % of them then go overdue and the 
problem becomes a vicious cycle of overdue orders that are difficult to 
reduce down to the allotted target.

5.5 Non-Urgent Repairs - at the end of 2016/17 the performance in this area 
was also below target at 84.20%. The contractor also had a WIP of around 
300 overdue orders that still needed to be completed in 2017/18. As for the 
Urgent repairs, for performance to get better the overdue orders would have 
needed to be cleared so that new orders could be completed within the set 
target. As with the urgent repairs, although this sounds like a simple task 
and for the reasons set out above, the reality is different and resolving the 
problem is not straight forward.

5.6 Adverse weather - as detailed in paragraph 4.5, these weather events create 
large volumes of work over a very short period of time and the Contractor 
has no notice they are coming and orders become an immediate priority to 
complete. This unplanned emergency work inevitably then impacts on the 
work that is planned, and booked with tenants, and forces the Council and 
Contractor to “prioritise the priorities”. This delays completion dates and has 
negative impact on performance but at the same time provides flexibility in 
being able to attend to the urgent works that deserve the most priority at any 
given time.

5.7 Despite the failure to deliver on these two targets overall customer 
satisfaction remains high and averages at 99.7%. This figure is based on 
4051 tenant satisfaction surveys carried out over the first 40 weeks of 
2017/18. This is being reviewed but we have no evidence to suggest that the 
high satisfaction levels are incorrect.

5.8  Finally it’s also worth pointing out that in terms of the service to tenants, 
even our achieved levels of performance are very high in comparison with 
private sector landlords and better than most owner occupiers can achieve.

6 Management Action Taken To Achieve Target.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 February 2018

6.1 The housing team have been in constant dialogue with the Contractor to 
improve the performance in relation to both areas and continues to work hard 
to achieve what is clearly a stretching target in terms of the number of repairs 
involved. However, and as stated above, the contractor’s failure to hit the 
targets set has not impacted customer satisfaction levels.

6.2 The Contractor has taken numerous steps to improve the situation which 
include:
 Restructure of local & Head Offices delivery team.
 Redefined roles & responsibilities of key staff.
 Disciplinary action against poor performers.
 Investigation & overhaul of the customer the satisfaction collection 

process.
 Improved practices for the Out of Hours Service.
 Improved utilisation of staff & sub-contractors.

    
6.3 Implementation of the above actions has provided a steady progression of 

the KPI’s since the start of this financial year and the improvement continues 
to be monitored and contract and partner board level. 

6.4 Housing management feel that DBC should always set very demanding 
‘stretch’ targets and have high expectations of our contractors. Whilst they 
might not be quite met on every occasion, the fact remains that the service 
offered to our tenants is of a high standard as supported by the customer 
satisfaction levels. We therefore feel justified in preferring to set targets that 
drive service performance and quality and just fall short rather than setting and 
meeting ‘easy’ targets and allow our contractors to coast.

7 Relationship To The Corporate Plan

7.1 Theme 5: TO FACILITATE QUALITY, CHOICE AND DIVERSITY IN THE 
HOUSING MARKET, TO CREATE STRONG AND SELF RELIANT 
COMMUNITIES AND DELIVER HIGH QUALITY SERVICES TO SERVICE 
USERS

8 Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Admin Implications  None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

9. Details of Exempt Information Category - None.

10. Appendices:  Appendix A – Cabinet report of 7 December 2017;
Appendix B – Cabinet report - Appendix B  



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 February 2018

Documents consulted

Cabinet report and Appendices 
dated 7 December 2017

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section &
Directorate

Exempt
Info Category

Peter Dosad
(01322) 343327

Head of 
Housing 
Services



Appendix A CABINET                        
7 DECEMBER 2017

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarters 1 and 2 of 2017-18.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly 
of the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan 
delivers the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through 
the following five themes:

 Economic Development and Regeneration

 Health and Wellbeing

 Safer Communities

 Environment and Sustainability

 Housing and Stronger Communities

3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself:

 A Council Performing Strongly

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the 
Council wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating 
to the Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of 
the Borough.

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicator for the first two quarters of 
2017-18.

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have 
targets assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some 
indicators may report annually, and these have been identified in the 
report.



Appendix A CABINET                        
7 DECEMBER 2017

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 DECEMBER 2017

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2017-20 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate Support

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q1 & Q2 2017/18

Performance Indicator Status

Alert

Warning

OK

Data Only Indicator (no target)

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Community Infrastructure Levy 
income £2,061,024 £66,196 £185,089 £251,285  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been applied to eligible development 
since April 2014. During quarter 2 of 2017/18, payments have been made by 
development at two sites. Payments can rise or fall from quarter to quarter, as CIL is 
only triggered upon commencement of consented development. 15% of the revenue 
generated from CIL liable developments in a local area, will be passed to 
town/parish councils and local neighbourhoods and a further proportion of the total 
CIL revenue will be used for administrative costs. Work is underway to identify 
potential future infrastructure projects where the Council may choose to apply CIL 
income, and initial funding proposals will be considered by the Cabinet in December 
2017.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Overall business birth rate
Latest value 
is for 2015 – 
see note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to new business registrations as business 
births. Latest available figures show that there were 735 business births in 2015 
which is up 16.66% from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the business 
birth rate in 2015 was 8,335. This is an annual indicator and the next update for 
2016 is due at the end of November. 



2

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Status

Overall business death rate
Latest value 
is for 2015 –
see note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to businesses that have ceased to trade 
(identified through de-registration of the administrative units, that is, VAT and PAYE) 
as business deaths. Latest available figures show that there were 395 business 
deaths in 2015, which is up 2.6% from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), 
the business death rate in 2015 was 5,785. This is an annual indicator and the next 
update is due at the end of November.  

District wide unemployment rate 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2%  

There were 805 unemployed people in the Borough in September 2017, which 
represents an unemployment rate of 1.2%. There were 5 fewer unemployed people 
in September than the previous month. In Kent overall (KCC area), the 
unemployment rate in September 2017 was 1.7%.

Total monthly Town Centre 
footfall 6,226,617 1,816,413 1,993,454 3,809,867  

2016/17 saw a slight downward trend in Town Centre footfall. However, the first two 
quarters of 2017/18 have seen significant increases averaging around 300,000 per 
quarter.  

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

For the second year running, there has been a consistently high delivery level of 
around 1,000 homes, following the previous 9 year period which averaged 477 new 
homes per annum. Following the slow delivery in the recession and post-recession 
years, these higher levels of delivery are putting the Council back on track to 
achieve the Core Strategy targets.

The highest number of homes were delivered at the Northern Gateway (272 homes), 
and at The Bridge (243 homes), as well as St Clements Lakes (176 homes).

There were 214 homes delivered in the EDC area of Dartford, on the Eastern Quarry 
and Ebbsfleet Green sites, comprising 18% of delivery in Dartford as a whole. 
Delivery levels in the EDC area are expected to increase as construction activity on 
these two large sites gets into full swing.

The outlook for next year’s delivery looks positive, with the large sites continuing to 
deliver, a very healthy pipeline of sites with planning consent and an expected uplift 
of delivery in the EDC area.   High delivery levels are likely to be sustained into the 
future, barring major and unexpected economic circumstances, with build on some 
very large sites set to continue for a number of years into the future.

This is an annual indicator. 2017/18 data is due April/May.



3

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Total Fairfield Centre Visits 459,270 133,341 130,179 263,520  

At Fairfield usage and membership growth has started to slow. We have seen a 
small growth in the quarter, the live membership hitting 3,317 at the end of 
September. This was after two months of growth in July and August hitting a top 
membership of 3,343.

Plans have been agreed to fund a further £500k worth of enhancement work 
including a gym extension at Fairfield Leisure Centre in Dartford due to its growing 
success and rising demand. This is split into Gym works paid by PFP leisure £250K 
and the car park/cubicle works paid by the Council at £250K.

In partnership with Dartford Borough Council, Fairfield will benefit from an extension 
of the current fitness suite, with an additional 25 new fitness stations and a larger 
free weights area. With the proposed enhancements to the fitness suite and the 
additional space for customers to exercise.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Park Run 
Users

146 157 161 159  The Park Run continues to maintain an average 159 runners per week for this free 
event managed by a dedicated team of volunteers.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Junior Park 
Run Users

37 35 36 36  The Park Run continues to maintain an average 36 runners per week for this free 
event managed by a dedicated team of volunteers.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Princes Park Mini Pitch Users 179 45 37 82  This quarter covers the summer months which is off season for football teams and 

therefore a reduction in bookings.

Percentage attendance at the 
Orchard Theatre (% of total seats 
available which are used)

61.33% 49% 54.67% 51.83%  
This quarter includes the traditional dark period for Theatres to carry out 
maintenance and improvement works, although attendance was down 6,000 from 
the previous quarter, smaller audience shows were staged that were full to capacity.

Number of local groups 
supported through Community 
Grant and other grant schemes

34 4 5 9  
In quarters 1 and 2 there were 4 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth scheme. 
Another 5 organisations were successful under the DBC Community Fund. The 
Community Grant for 2017-18 will be launched in October.



4

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Life expectancy gap for men
Latest value 
is for 2013-
15 – see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2013-15 show that the life expectancy gap is 9.4 years 
lower for men in the most deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 
areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 7.7 years lower for men. This is 
an annual indicator and the next update is due July 2018.

Life expectancy gap for women
Latest value 
is for 2013-
15 – see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2013-15 show that the life expectancy gap is 4.5 years 
lower for women in the most deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 
areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 4.4 years lower for women. This 
is an annual indicator and the next update is due July 2018.

Percentage of obese children in 
Year 6

Latest value 
is for 2015-
16 – see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

N/A  

Latest available figures for 2015-16 show that 21.1% of children in Year 6 (10-11 
year olds) were classified as obese in the Borough. This is higher than the previous 
year where 19.6% of children in Year 6 were classified as obese. In Kent overall 
(KCC area) for 2015-16, the figure is 18.7%. This is an annual indicator and the next 
update is due in 2018.

Percentage of adults achieving at 
least 150 minutes of physical 
exercise per week

Latest value 
is for 2015-
16  - see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

N/A  

Latest available figures for 2015-16 show that 63.1% of adults were physically active 
in the Borough. This indicator is defined as the percentage of adults (aged 19+) that 
meet Chief Medical Officer recommendations for physical activity (150+ moderate 
intensity equivalent minutes per week). This indicator is a replacement for the 
previous indicator reporting the number of adults (aged 16+) achieving at least 150 
minutes of  physical activity per week. A new indicator was required as the source 
data for the superseded indicator has been discontinued (the Sport England Active 
People Survey has been replaced by the Active Lives Survey). Due to the change in 
methodology and the age range, this indicator cannot be compared to the previous 
indicator.

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Total number of arrests instigated 
by CCTV this month 72 16 19 35  Performance has remained consistent taking into account a smaller staffing 

commitment to the function and reduced Police demand. 

Total number of arrests 59 9 15 24  Performance has remained consistent taking into account a smaller staffing 
commitment to the function and reduced Police demand. 



5

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Status
supported by CCTV this month
Number of businesses supporting 
Dartford Town Against Crime 
(DTAC)

209 97 108 205  This is showing an upward trend. DTAC remains one of the most successful 
Business Crime Partnerships in the South East region.

Number of Dartford Town Against 
Crime (DTAC) interventions 
against persistent offenders

22 2 4 6  This remains consistent and exclusions will now be aligned to enforcement actions 
under the auspices of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

Number of Community Protection 
Warnings issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

104 84 188  Performance is now consistent across several services.

Number of Community Protection 
Notices issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

26 10 36  Performance is now consistent across several services.

Number of Public Space 
Protection Order Enforcement 
Notices issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A N/A N/A  The PSPO will come into effect in November 2017 with enforcement activity taking 
place from December 2017.

Number of Acceptable Behaviour 
Agreements issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

4 10 14  This is the responsibility of the Police and performance has remained consistent 
over the last 2 years.

Percentage of High risk 
(categories A & B) food hygiene 
inspections due and completed 
(cumulative)

100% 63.64% 81.82% 81.82% 100% The team are carrying a significant vacancy which we cannot fill. All high risk food 
hygiene inspections are completed within 6 weeks of their due date.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of reported anti-social 
behaviour incidents in the 
Borough by the Police

2,982 666 575 1,241  

Home crime counting rules for crime have radically changed making comparative 
analysis impossible. We are awaiting national guidance as to how we are able to say 
what crime trends look like going forward. However, instances of reported ASB have 
remained consistent for the last 2 years.

Total number of crimes reported 10,098 2,923 2,980 5,903  Home crime counting rules for crime have radically changed making comparative 
analysis impossible. We are awaiting national guidance as to how we are able to say 



6

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Status
in the Borough what crime trends look like going forward.

Number of criminal damage 
offences reported in the Borough 1,652 399 345 744  

Home crime counting rules for crime have radically changed making comparative 
analysis impossible. We are awaiting national guidance as to how we are able to say 
what crime trends look like going forward. However, criminal damage offences have 
remained constant for the last 2 years.

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status     Target 

Note

The average results of Nitrogen 
Dioxide levels from all automatic 
air quality monitoring stations in 
the Borough (micrograms per m2)

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

38.6 37.5 38.1  
Average measured Nitrogen Dioxide level (unratified) is above the national objective 
level of 40ug/m3. The three Air Quality Stations are located in areas of known poor 
air quality near to pollution sources (traffic).    

Number of households taking 
part in energy efficiency 
initiatives in the Borough

571 39 31 70  We are likely to exceed 2016/17 performance.

Number of households taking 
part in green bin service 6,141 5,640 5,804 5,722 6,000 The number of customers is slightly down but should increase over time.

Number of flytipping incidents 159 591 745 1,336 60 Flytipping of domestic items has greatly increased.

Number of graffiti incidents 59 17 9 26 60 Graffiti remains at a very low level across the Borough.

Percentage of household waste 
going to landfill 1.7% 1.4% 1.1% 1.1%  The amount of waste sent to landfill remains at a very low level. 



7

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

No of households on the housing 
register 1,064 1,094 1,110 1,110  The number of households on the housing register is staying relatively consistent.

No of households living in 
temporary accommodation 107 90 97 97  

The number of households in temporary accommodation has held between 90 and 
100 since April and continues to put pressure on GF Expenditure. Moving forward 
the team is continually looking to mitigate impact but there appears to be no 
immediate respite or resolution in sight. 

Number of households where 
homelessness has been 
prevented

50 21 19 40  Two first quarters are relatively similar but projecting an increased number of 
homeless cases being prevented for 2017/18.

Number of service requests 
completed for Private Sector 
Housing

429 64 55 119 125 We are on target to beat the performance for 2016/17.

Percentage of repairs completed 
in time 90.92% 85.16% 85.56% 85.37% 98.00%

The new management regime is now in place but poor performance in the early part 
of 2017/18 has meant that despite the improvement in October it has not affected 
the quarterly performance figure presented as yet which remains below target for the 
5000+ repairs completed. Additional resources have been provided by the contractor 
and further investigation details that the majority of the late jobs relate to non-urgent 
works with emergency and urgent jobs being dealt with as a priority. Intensive 
management action is ongoing to improve the situation.

Average time taken to re-let local 
authority housing (in calendar 
days) (EXCL major works).

20.41 21.56 24.04 22.5 20
Performance dipped in the summer due to a high number of supported housing 
voids that were difficult to let and properties that required extensive works. 
Performance has recovered in September and it is anticipated that the target will be 
achieved by the end of the financial year.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of affordable homes 
delivered (gross) 239 44 31 75 70 We are on target and likely to beat performance in 2016/17.



8

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Status

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
 Refer to page 2 and ‘Number of new homes built’ indicator for commentary.

Number of service requests 
raised for Private Sector Housing

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 62 63 125  Performance in this indicator is as expected.

No of private sector vacant 
dwellings that are returned into 
occupation or demolished

101 16 47 63 50 We are on target and likely to exceed 2016/17 performance.

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Percentage of in-year Business 
Rates collected

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 31.2% 56.2% 56.2% 56.7%
In-year collection rate to date has been detrimentally affected by late payments from 
Darent Valley Hospital (monthly payment is £136,000). They are now under a 
payment arrangement up to the end of March 2018 so the collection rate is expected 
to improve as the year progresses.

Number of phone calls received 
by the Council 577,329 129,551 131,994 261,545  

There has been a fall in telephone contact of just over 8%, from 143,504 to 131,994, 
compared to the same quarter of 2016/17.This is likely to be due, in part, to the 
increase in issues that can be resolved through the DBC website.

Percentage of in-year Council Tax 
collected

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 29.4% 56.7% 56.7% 57.2%

Value of Council Tax collected is nearly £2m more compared to the end of quarter 2 
in 2016/17. The in-year collection rate is being affected by the continuing rise in the 
Tax Base and the resulting increase in collectable debit once new properties have 
been billed. Despite the collection rate being below target the value of money 
collected continues to increase.

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to short term (<4 
weeks) illness per employee

4.39 0.58 0.71 1.29 2.24 Overall projection for 2017-18 remains below target.

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to long term (>4 
weeks) illness per employee

2.38 0.44 0.9 1.34 1.5 Overall projection for 2017-18 remains below target.



9

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Status
Percentage of supplier payments 
made within 30 days of receipt of 
invoice

99.02% 98.07% 99.43% 98.78% 99% The performance in this quarter returned to strong levels.

Average time taken to process a 
new claim for Housing Benefit 
(cumulative)

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 20 21 21 23 Performance is currently ahead of target. Further improvement is expected as the 
year progresses. 

Rent Collection and Arrears 
Recovery - rents collected as a 
proportion of rents owed.

97.67% 92.41% 95.86% 95.86% 95% This indicator shows a cumulative total heading towards an annual target. Prediction 
is that the end of 2017/18 position will exceed target and last year’s performance.

Number of visits to DBC website 821,974 214,590 210,431 425,021  Although there are monthly variations, most notably around the Festival, usage of 
the site is broadly level year on year. 

 





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 FEBRUARY 2018

THE IDENTIFIED INITIATIVES RESERVE 2017/18

1. Summary

1.1 The Chairman requested a report from Officers for the Committee detailing 
expenditure from the Identified Initiatives Reserve for the 2017-18 financial cycle 
to date for Scrutiny Members to consider prior to the General Assembly of the 
Council (Budget) meeting due to be held on 26 February 2018. 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee notes the report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. A data table is attached as appendix A to this report showing 
expenditure to date for the Identified Initiatives Reserve. 

3.2. The initiatives included in the data are set out below as approved by 
the Managing Director. Expenditure is subsequently approved directly 
or by specific officers. The initiatives include:

 Community Grants - Grants for local organisations which are 
reviewed by the Leader and the Deputy Leader and approved 
by the Managing Director.

 Events - set aside for local events (managed by the Policy and 
Performance Team). Events generally this year have included 
the Steam Rally, St Georges Day, Santa's House and the Carol 
Concert

 Feasibility Studies - Feasibility Studies and related costs. Most 
costs this year relate to the Stone Lodge site.

 Salute to Youth - an awards programme for uniformed groups in 
Dartford. Grant bids are reviewed by the Leader and the Deputy 
Leader and approved by the Managing Director.

 Planning Local Development Framework - this work is periodic 
so is not included in the local budget. Permission had been 
granted to use for the necessary consultancy support to refresh 
the local plan. 

 Town Centre - Promotions, initiatives and works as agreed to 
support the town centre in support of the capital 
schemes/redevelopment.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 FEBRUARY 2018

 Town Centre Wi-Fi – to fund continued public Wi-Fi provision for 
the Town Centre.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The Identified Initiative Reserve is used to further any of the Corporate 
Plan objectives. 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications As detailed within the report

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

           None.

7. Appendices

Appendix A:  2017/18 expenditure to date for the Identified Initiatives Reserve. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tim Sams
(01322) 343148

Financial 
Services,
Internal 
Services



Cost Centre Description Supplier Amount Description Approver
COMMUNTY PROJECTS-GRANTS (EDF) DARTFORD ARTS NETWORK 6,000.00 DARTFORD ARTS 11/5 COMMUNITY FUNDING Graham Harris
COMMUNTY PROJECTS-GRANTS (EDF) THE MEETING PLACE & UPPER ROOMS CIC 2,500.00 MEETING PLACE 17/7 COMUNITY FUNDING Graham Harris
COMMUNTY PROJECTS-GRANTS (EDF) ROYAL NAVAL ASSOC 'DARTFORD' 1,200.00 ROYAL NAVAL 15/8 SWITCHED ON COMMUNITY F Graham Harris
COMMUNTY PROJECTS-GRANTS (EDF) NORTH WEST KENT COUNTRYSIDE PARTNERSHIP -KCC 1,560.00 NWK COUNRTYSIDE 15/8 SWITCHED ON COMMUNI Graham Harris
COMMUNTY PROJECTS-GRANTS (EDF) DAODS 2,978.00 DAODS 19/10 COMMUNITY FUNDING Graham Harris
COMMUNTY PROJECTS-GRANTS (EDF) WOMENS INSTITUTE 500.00 CED275548 FR 7003 F/D WOEMN INSTI 23.8 FUND Graham Harris
COMMUNTY PROJECTS-GRANTS (EDF) PCC ST MARYS CHURCH STONE 241.55 PCC ST MARY 8/11 COMMUNITY FUNDING Graham Harris
COMMUNTY PROJECTS-GRANTS (EDF) DARTFORD CHURCHES WINTER SHELTER 10,000.00 D/CHURCHES 9/11 COMMUNITY FUNDING Graham Harris
COMMUNTY PROJECTS-GRANTS (EDF) DARTFORD JUDO CLUB 260.00 DARTFORD JUDO 22/11 COMMUNITY FUNDING Graham Harris
EVENTS PERFORMING RIGHT SOCIETY LTD 155.06 PRS 6.5-5.5.17 REVISED CHARGES Adrian Gowan
EVENTS DARTFORD CONCERT BAND 250.00 D/FD CONCERT 6/5 STEAM RALLY Adrian Gowan
EVENTS DIAMOND COLOUR PRINT LIMITED 175.00 DIAMOND 28/4 STEAM RALLY FLYER Adrian Gowan
EVENTS LAV-HIRE LTD 450.00 LAVHIRE 14.5 LOO HIRE Adrian Gowan
EVENTS PREMIER MARQUEES 30.00 PREMIER 5/5 MARQUEE Adrian Gowan
EVENTS PREMIER MARQUEES 1,250.00 PREMIER 5/5 MARQUEE Adrian Gowan
EVENTS S E MEDICAL LIMITED 340.00 SEMEDICAL 6-7/5 STEAM FAIR Adrian Gowan
EVENTS MR ROBERT STYLES 300.00 STYLES 6/5 3X SHOWS Adrian Gowan
EVENTS COHESION PLUS KENT 2,600.00 COHESION 21.4 ST GEORGES DAY Sarah Martin
EVENTS DIAMOND COLOUR PRINT LIMITED 145.00 DIAMOND 12/5 STEAM RALLY Adrian Gowan
EVENTS SEVENOAKS PRINT 3.00 PLO PRT BUS TOUR POSTER Adrian Gowan
EVENTS SEVENOAKS PRINT 5.50 PLO PRT STEAM RALLY POSTERS Adrian Gowan
EVENTS SEVENOAKS PRINT 1.50 PLO PRT STEAM RALLY POSTERS Adrian Gowan
EVENTS SEVENOAKS PRINT 4.50 PLO PRT STEAM RALLY POSTERS Adrian Gowan
EVENTS TREVITHICKS INDUSTRIAL DARTFORD 335.00 TREVITHICK 12/5 STEAM IN DARTFORD Adrian Gowan
EVENTS TREVITHICKS INDUSTRIAL DARTFORD 3,000.00 TREVITHICK 12/5 STEAM IN DARTFORD Adrian Gowan
EVENTS CAN-DO HIRE CENTRES LTD 111.00 CANDO 23.8-24.8 TASK LIGHT CHA Adrian Gowan
EVENTS CAN-DO HIRE CENTRES LTD 83.25 CANDO 16.8-17.8 TASK LIGHT CHA Adrian Gowan
EVENTS CAN-DO HIRE CENTRES LTD 111.00 CANDO 16.8-17.8 TASK LIGHT CHA Adrian Gowan
EVENTS CAN-DO HIRE CENTRES LTD 111.00 CANDO 30.8/31.8 TASK LIGHT CHA Adrian Gowan
EVENTS CAN-DO HIRE CENTRES LTD 111.00 CANDO 30.8-31.8 TASK LIGHT CHA Adrian Gowan
EVENTS CAN-DO HIRE CENTRES LTD 2.00 CANDO 23.8-24.8 TASK LIGHT CHA Adrian Gowan
EVENTS CAN-DO HIRE CENTRES LTD 109.00 CANDO 23.8-24.8 TASK LIGHT CHA Adrian Gowan
EVENTS LAV-HIRE LTD 900.00 LAVHIRE 5.9 LOO HIRE Adrian Gowan
EVENTS POP UP EVENTS & MARKETING LTD 4,500.00 POPUP 16.8/23.8/30.8 O/DOOR CI Adrian Gowan
EVENTS DARENTH PRINT & DESIGN LTD 20.00 DARENTH 19.10 SANTAS HOUSE 2 P Tony Phillips
EVENTS ELAINE HENSON 326.72 HENSON 22/9 SANTAS GROTTO Adrian Gowan
EVENTS INTERNAL TRANSFER 640.00 FIRE ENGINE HIRE TREVITHICK EVENT 5/6 MAY Elaine Henson
EVENTS BRENWARDS LTD 144.01 BRENWARDS 24.11 Tony Phillips
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 75.00 M/PAY OCT AMAZON UK MARKETPLACE Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 11.52 M/PAY OCT AMAZON UK MARKETPLACE Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 10.15 M/PAY OCT AMAZON UK MARKETPLACE Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 3.70 M/PAY OCT AMAZON UK MARKETPLACE Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 68.78 M/PAY OCT AMAZON UK MARKETPLACE Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 172.45 M/PAY OCT BAKER ROSS LTD Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 75.19 M/PAY OCT WWW.RISUSWHOLESALE Adrian Gowan
EVENTS CAN-DO HIRE CENTRES LTD 27.75 CANDO 18.12 TASK LIGHT CHARGER Adrian Gowan
EVENTS CAN-DO HIRE CENTRES LTD 83.25 CANDO 18.12TASK LIGHT CHARGER Adrian Gowan
EVENTS ADRIAN GOWAN 43.99 GOWAN 5/12 SANTA HOUSE BALLOONS Adrian Gowan



Cost Centre Description Supplier Amount Description Approver
EVENTS J.H. PROMOTIONS LTD 340.00 JH PROMO 2.12 SANTAS HSE Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 53.86 M/PAY NOV ALDI 75 776 Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 19.95 M/PAY NOV AMAZON SVCS EU-UK AMAZ Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 10.00 M/PAY NOV ASDA DARTFORD 4324 Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 547.20 M/PAY NOV COLOUR DIGITAL PRINT Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 1,058.40 M/PAY NOV COLOUR DIGITAL PRINT Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 12.50 M/PAY NOV POUNDWORLD RETAIL Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 6.67 M/PAY NOV PRIMARK Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 9.18 M/PAY NOV RYMAN Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 23.00 M/PAY NOV SAINSBURYS SACAT 2042 Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 13.33 M/PAY NOV SAINSBURYS SACAT 2042 Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 74.25 M/PAY NOV WILKO RETAIL LIMIT Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 13.33 M/PAY NOV WILKO RETAIL LIMIT Adrian Gowan
EVENTS SEVENOAKS PRINT 22.50 PLO PRT CAROL CONCERT POSTER Adrian Gowan
EVENTS SEVENOAKS PRINT 3.00 PLO PRT CAROL CONCERT POSTER Adrian Gowan
EVENTS SEVENOAKS PRINT 5.50 PLO PRT CAROL CONCERT POSTER Adrian Gowan
EVENTS SEVENOAKS PRINT 9.00 PLO PRT SANTA HOUSE 2 POSTER Adrian Gowan
EVENTS SEVENOAKS PRINT 6.00 PLO PRT SANTA HOUSE 2 POSTER Adrian Gowan
EVENTS SAME SKY LTD 2,750.00 SAME SKY 7.11 SILK RIVER SCHOOLS Adrian Gowan
EVENTS TOM KELLETT T/A TK ARTS 350.00 TK/ARTS 2.12 SANTAS HSE ENTERT Tony Phillips
EVENTS DARENTH PRINT & DESIGN LTD 160.00 DARENTH 19.12 C/CONCERT PROGRA Adrian Gowan
EVENTS DARTFORD CONCERT BAND 32.91 D/CONCERT 12.12 CAROL CONCERT Adrian Gowan
EVENTS DERYCK OBRAY 600.00 OBRAY 7.10 4 ELVES Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 25.10 M/PAY DEC SAINSBURYS SACAT 2042 Adrian Gowan
EVENTS PREMIER MARQUEES 1,730.00 P/MARQUEES 11.12 FLOORING/CHAI Adrian Gowan
EVENTS TMS PROTECTION LTD 195.00 TMS 14.12 5 X  STEWARDS Adrian Gowan
EVENTS BUSINESS CARD 7.00 M/PAY OCT DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNC Adrian Gowan
EVENTS INCOME - 136.67 CALENDARS KSK
EVENTS INCOME - 16.67 CALENDARS KSK
EVENTS COHESION PLUS KENT 4,000.00 COHESION 31/10 FESTIVAL OF LIGHT Adrian Gowan
EVENTS INCOME - 1,382.43 SANTAS HOUSE INCOME
EVENTS STAFF COSTS 1,012.60 Adrian Gowan
FEASIBILTIY STDY(SPRT ART&HER) BATES WELLS & BRAITHWAITE LONDON LLP 680.00 BWB JUL-MAR17 HESKETH Adrian Gowan
FEASIBILTIY STDY(SPRT ART&HER) ROBERT READ ASSOCIATES 638.00 R/READ MAR-APR17 CONSULTANCY F Adrian Gowan
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK LJ DUNCAN 112.00 LJD 30.4 P/PLAN EXAMINATIONS Tim Sams
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK LJ DUNCAN 96.00 LJD MAY17 DEV POLICY EXAM Tim Sams
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK LJ DUNCAN 88.00 LJD JUNE17 POLICY EXAM Tim Sams
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK THE PLANNING INSPECTORATE 38,385.39 PLAN/INSPEC 21.7 LOCAL PLAN Teresa Ryszkowska
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK DARENTH PRINT & DESIGN LTD 390.00 DARENTH 25/7 BANNER/ MAPS Teresa Ryszkowska
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK AECOM INFRASTRUCTURE AND ENVIRONMENT UK  LTD 1,493.25 AECOM 10/8 PROFESS SERVICES Mark Aplin
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK DIRECT ACCOUNT 102.00 LAND REGISTRY KWI Teresa Ryszkowska
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK DIRECT ACCOUNT 42.00 LAND REGISTRY KWI Teresa Ryszkowska
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK DIRECT ACCOUNT 183.00 LAND REGISTRY KWI Teresa Ryszkowska
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK DIRECT ACCOUNT 69.00 LAND REGISTRY 7020569 5OCT DKS Teresa Ryszkowska
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK DIRECT ACCOUNT 30.00 LAND REGISTRY KWI Teresa Ryszkowska
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK KENT WILDLIFE TRUST 2,080.00 K/WILDLIFE 17/18 MAINT LOCAL W Mark Aplin
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK DIRECT ACCOUNT 18.00 LAND REGISTRY 7020569 20DE DKS Teresa Ryszkowska
SALUTE TO YOUTH DARTFORD JUDO CLUB 1,500.00 DARTFORD JUDO 2017-18 SALUTE TO YOUTH Adrian Gowan



Cost Centre Description Supplier Amount Description Approver
SALUTE TO YOUTH FLEETDOWN UNITED 5,000.00 FLEETDOWN FC 2017-18 SALUTE TO YOUTH GRA Adrian Gowan
SALUTE TO YOUTH BUSINESS CARD 153.83 M/PAY MAY HOBBYCRAFT (INTERNET) Adrian Gowan
SALUTE TO YOUTH BUSINESS CARD 83.92 M/PAY MAY ARGOS RETAIL GROUP Adrian Gowan
SALUTE TO YOUTH BUSINESS CARD 195.00 M/PAY MAY WWW.OFFICEFURNITUREONLE Adrian Gowan
SALUTE TO YOUTH BUSINESS CARD 79.33 M/PAY MAY SJASUPLIES Adrian Gowan
SALUTE TO YOUTH BUSINESS CARD 19.94 M/PAY MAY WWW.ARGOS.CO.UK Adrian Gowan
SALUTE TO YOUTH DISPLAYSENSE LTD 3.72 DISPLAYSENSE 4.9 DISPLAY CABIN Adrian Gowan
SALUTE TO YOUTH DISPLAYSENSE LTD 506.74 DISPLAYSENSE 4.9 DISPLAY CABIN Adrian Gowan
SALUTE TO YOUTH BEAN SCOUT GROUP 300.00 BEAN SCOUT 2016-17 SALUTE TO YOUTH Adrian Gowan
STONE LODGE FEASABILITY BRAESIDE DEVELOPMENTS LTD 937.50 BRAESIDE 5.6 CONSULTANCY Marie Kelly-Stone
STONE LODGE FEASABILITY BRAESIDE DEVELOPMENTS LTD 750.00 BRAESIDE 17/7 CONSULTANCY Marie Kelly-Stone
STONE LODGE FEASABILITY PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP 2,000.00 P/WATERHOUSE 31.7 VAT ADVICE Tim Sams
STONE LODGE FEASABILITY DIRECT DEBIT 6.00 LAND REGISTRY KWI
STONE LODGE FEASABILITY BRAESIDE DEVELOPMENTS LTD 1,187.50 CED 270829 BRAESIDE  INV 07 MAY 18 Marie Kelly-Stone
STONE LODGE FEASABILITY BRAESIDE DEVELOPMENTS LTD 1,062.50 BRAESIDE 17/8 CONSULTANCY Marie Kelly-Stone
STONE LODGE FEASABILITY BRAESIDE DEVELOPMENTS LTD 1,250.00 BRAESIDE AUG17 CONSULTANCY Marie Kelly-Stone
STONE LODGE FEASABILITY PINSENT MASONS LLP 18.00 PINSENT  28.10 STONE LODGE SAL Marie Kelly-Stone
STONE LODGE FEASABILITY PINSENT MASONS LLP 1,727.50 PINSENT  28.10 STONE LODGE SAL Marie Kelly-Stone
STONE LODGE FEASABILITY BRAESIDE DEVELOPMENTS LTD 825.00 BRAESIDE OCT17 CONSULTANCY Marie Kelly-Stone
STONE LODGE FEASABILITY BRAESIDE DEVELOPMENTS LTD 937.50 BRAESIDE 30.11 CONSULTANCY FEE Marie Kelly-Stone
STONE LODGE FEASABILITY BRAESIDE DEVELOPMENTS LTD 750.00 BRAESIDE 2.1 CONSULTANCY ADVIC Marie Kelly-Stone
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS ONE STOP PROMOTIONS LTD 27.50 ONESTOP 20.4 ST GEORGES DAY Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS ONE STOP PROMOTIONS LTD 35.00 ONESTOP 20.4 ST GEORGES DAY Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS ONE STOP PROMOTIONS LTD 199.00 ONESTOP 20.4 ST GEORGES DAY Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS ONE STOP PROMOTIONS LTD 240.00 ONESTOP 20.4 ST GEORGES DAY Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS ONE STOP PROMOTIONS LTD 300.00 ONESTOP 20.4 ST GEORGES DAY Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS THE CREATION LAB LTD 9,950.00 CREATION 8/5 DISCOVER DARTFORD Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS ICON THEATRE 2,802.00 ICON 15/11 DARTFORD CREATIVE Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS THEOBALDS (REFURBISHMENT) LIMITED 428.00 THEOBALDS 8/6 HIGH ST/ORCHARD Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS THEOBALDS (REFURBISHMENT) LIMITED 615.39 THEOBALDS 8/6 HIGH ST/ORCHARD Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS SPRINGBOARD RESEARCH LTD 1,797.50 SPRINGBOARD FEB-AUG17 SUBS Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS MONTAGU EVANS 223.05 M/EVANS 22.3-27.4 E/WORK Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS SPRINGBOARD RESEARCH LTD 898.75 SPRINGBOARD 20/8-19/11 FOOTFAL Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS MONTAGU EVANS 150.74 M/EVANS 3/2-2/3 CLEAN UNIT 19 Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS THE CREATION LAB LTD 7,995.00 CREATION LAB 6/7 DISCOVER D'FORD P2, M2 Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS ICON THEATRE 16,000.00 ICON THEATRE FINAL INST D'FORD TOWN ART Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS SPRINGBOARD RESEARCH LTD 898.75 SPRINGHEAD 20.11-19.2 FOOTBALL Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS THE CREATION LAB LTD 6,800.00 ALLSIGNS 20.10 PHASE 3 D CAMPA Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS MONTAGU EVANS 76.24 M/EVANS 7/12-4/1/16 CLEAN UNIT Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS D K LEYDON DECORATING LTD 620.00 DKLEYDON 2.6 DECOR MEETING PLC Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS BRENWARDS LTD 187.68 BRENWARDS 6.5 INSTALL THE MEET Tim Sams
TOWN CENTRE & PARK IMPROVEMNTS STAFF COSTS 24,027.50 Graham Harris
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 2,325.00 IQUNITY 4.2-3.5 LEASED LINE Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 78.84 IQUNITY MARCH17 LICENCE/ROUTER Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 1,503.77 IQUNITY MARCH17 LICENCE/ROUTER Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 1,861.90 IQUNITY MAY17 LICENCE/ROUTER Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 2,325.00 IQUNITY 4/5-3/8 LEASED LINE Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 1,861.90 IQUINITY JUN17 LICENCE/ROUTER Tim Sams



Cost Centre Description Supplier Amount Description Approver
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 1,861.90 IQUNITY JULY17 LICENCE Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 1,861.90 IQUNITY 1.8 MOTOROLA WIRELESS Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 2,325.00 IQUNITY 4.8 LEASED LINE CONNEC Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 467.84 IQUNITY SEP17 MOTOROLA CLOUD L Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 928.58 IQUNITY SEP17 MOTOROLA CLOUD L Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 1,396.42 IQUNITY OCT17 MOTOROLA LICENCE Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 CHROMA VISION LTD 110.00 CHROMA 17/11 CHECK CONNECT WIFI Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 2,325.00 IQUINITY 4.11 LEASED LINE CONN Tim Sams
WIFI PHASE 1 IQUNITY LIMITED 1,396.42 IQUNITY 1.11 MOTOROLA CLOUD W/ Tim Sams

214,181.57



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 FEBRUARY 2018

COUNCIL EVENTS 2017

1. Summary

1.1 To update the Committee on events in the Borough which, have either been 
directly provided by the Council or have been provided by others with support from 
the Council.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee notes the report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Council provides a number of events during the year. Some of 
these are provided directly i.e. they are funded by the Council and 
delivered by Council staff. Others are provided by external groups with 
financial and other support from the Council. Set out below is a 
description of the main events delivered in the Borough over the 
financial year 2017/18 (this does not include Dartford Festival, which 
was the subject of a previous scrutiny report).

3.2. Trevithick Steam Fair: This event is organised externally, through Mr 
Colin Wheeler. It involves the display of a number of historic steam 
powered vehicles and artefacts relating to Dartford’s industrial past. 
The event takes place in Central Park and is free. The Council provides 
£6,929 towards the cost of the event, with the rest of the costs being 
met through sponsorship raised by the organiser. The Council’s 
contribution includes both a cash donation and the direct payment of 
services such as printing the programmes, marquee hire and toilet hire. 
Council officers are involved in discussions about the organisation of 
the event, including safety management. 5000 people attended the two 
day event in 2017.

3.3. St Georges Day: This event is also organised externally, by Cohesion 
Plus. The St Georges Day parade, through Dartford High Street, is the 
culmination of a series of art workshops in local primary schools, where 
the pupils design and build banners and other artwork associated with 
St George. The parade runs from the Civic Centre, along Dartford High 
Street, ending at the Central Park Bandstand. The majority of funding 
for the event comes from the Arts Council, however the Council makes 
a grant of £2,600 to the organisers and Council Officers offer 
considerable support in terms of safety advice, road closures and 
stewarding. Around 400 children were in attendance in 2017.

3.4. Outdoor Theatre: There were three separate performances at the 
theatre in 2017, Treasure Island, The Mikado and Hamlet. All of the 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 FEBRUARY 2018

performances were ticketed and a charge made of £5 for a local 
resident and £15 for non-residents. The total cost of the three 
performances was £8,470. 849 people attended the events, and 
income totalled £4,791.

3.5. Cinema in the Park: There were three Cinema in the Park events in 
2017. The films shown were Jungle Book, ET and La La Land. All of 
the showings were free to residents and 4073 tickets were issued over 
the three nights. The cost of the three showings was £7,307. It is 
interesting to note that similar events, held in parks across the South 
East, tend to charge an average of £13 per person for entry.

3.6. Bandstand Concerts: Bandstand concerts are held from the end of 
April until the beginning of September. There were 18 concerts in 2017. 
The season included a mixture of concert, brass, jazz and steel bands. 
The budget for the Bandstand performances is £5,000 and this 
includes maintenance, marketing and the cost of the performers. The 
Café in the Park provides an attendant to unlock the storage unit and 
distribute deck chairs. The events are not ticketed and actual 
attendance figures are not available, however anecdotal evidence 
suggests that all of the concerts are very well attended.

3.7. Summer Sizzlers: The Summer Sizzlers programme covers events 
and activities during the school summer holidays. In 2017activities 
ranged from tennis tots, judo, art and craft, steel drums, circus skills, 
climbing walls and Laser Tag. These activities were held on the Acacia 
site, in the Darent Suite, or at the Judo Club. A charge of £3 per activity 
was made and places were sold out, with around 400 children taking 
part. The Health Living Coordinator arranged for ten Play4life sessions 
to be held in parks across the Borough. The sessions were free and 
200 children took part. Bat walks, arranged by the Parks Service, were 
also fully booked. The budget for the activities is £6000, of which 
£3,300 was recovered through income and advertising opportunities.

Leisure partners also provide activities, including Fairfield Leisure, 
Orchard Theatre, Dartford Harriers, Dartford Football Club, Dartford 
Library and Parish Councils. As these are booked directly with the 
operator the Council does not have attendance figures for these 
activities.

  3.8   Festival of Light: This is another event managed by Cohesion Plus. It   
is a school based arts programme looking at how light is used in 
celebrations across many cultures. A number of primary schools take 
part, producing lanterns for the event, which involves a parade through 
Dartford High Street, ending in Central park with a firework display. The 
Council makes a financial contribution of £4000 towards the event, with 
the Arts Council making the main contribution. Around 500 children 
were involved in 2017. The Council also contributes staff from the 
Enforcement and Regulatory Services team who provide safety cover 
and general help to the organisers.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 FEBRUARY 2018

3.9    Santa’s House: This is the second year that this event has been held. It 
is held in the Mansion House on the Acacia site. The event involves 
groups of children and their parents being taken through a series of 
rooms, each of which involves activities such as crafts and circus skills, 
culminating in a visit to Santa. The cost is £7 per child and this includes 
snacks and a gift for the child. In 2017, 236 children and their families 
attended, which was the maximum possible. The event is only open to 
Dartford families. The total cost of the event was £3,056 with £1,680 
received as income.

3.10  Carol Concert: The annual carol concert is now in its eighth year. 
Originally it was held by the bandstand in Central Park, however it was 
moved, in 2016, to the Outdoor Theatre, as this had a larger capacity. 
The event includes traditional Christmas carols and readings, and 
usually lasts around an hour. The event is free, but is ticketed, in order 
to control numbers. In 2017 766 tickets were issued and the cost of the 
event was £3,467.

3.11 Christmas Lights Event: The Christmas Light switch-on event is 
supported by the Council, but organised in conjunction with the town 
centre business community. The event has grown substantially in size 
in recent years and attracts large crowds from across Dartford. The 
budget for the event is £15,000 which enables the installation of 
staging, security and allied infrastructure. However this year the 
business community contributed £5,800 in cash towards the event and 
provided least £10,000 pounds worth of funding in kind in the form of 
media partnerships, panto stars, premises and additional security 
support. In fact it would be very difficult to deliver this event in its 
current format without the use of local traders’ facilities and their 
organisational support.

3.12  There are also other one off events, such as Silk River, which was an 
arts project organised by Kinetika, an arts organisation based in 
Purfleet, to highlight the history of the silk trade routes from India to 
London, with the Thames river channel being a key route. The Council 
contributed £2,750 towards the project, officer support was again given 
from Enforcement and Regulatory Services. There has been a series of 
exhibitions in the Sir Peter Blake Gallery. The Council has also 
supported the setting up of Parkrun and Junior Parkrun, weekly 
events, which are attended by up to 400 people per session. 

           An events calendar can be viewed at 
http://intranet.dartford.gov.uk/Events/Lists/Overall%20Events%20Calen
dar/calendaroverlay.aspx

3.13   The events involve a range of officers from the Council, including Policy 
and Corporate Support, who organise events such as Theatre in the 
Park, Cinema in the Park and Santa’s House, Enforcement and 

http://intranet.dartford.gov.uk/Events/Lists/Overall%20Events%20Calendar/calendaroverlay.aspx
http://intranet.dartford.gov.uk/Events/Lists/Overall%20Events%20Calendar/calendaroverlay.aspx


SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 FEBRUARY 2018

Regulatory Services who organise the Christmas lights event and 
provide a wide range of support to other events through the Community 
Safety, Town Centre and Park Rangers teams. ICT support events 
through the on line booking system. Events are also supported through 
the Waste and Parks team and the Corporate Maintenance team, who 
ensure that Council venues, which are used for events, are fit for 
purpose.

3.14  The Council actively seeks feedback on its events. In terms of those 
events which are ticketed e mails are sent to ticket holders, after the 
event, asking for feedback. The feedback, which the Council receives 
tends to be overwhelmingly positive. The Council has also used 
feedback forms at events such as Cinema in the Park. With events 
which are not ticketed or are organised by external bodies the Council 
looks at social media responses to the event. The complaints and 
complements system is also checked.

3.15  The Council does seek sponsorship for its events, and following the 
successful increase in sponsorship for the Dartford Festival, other 
sponsorship opportunities are being explored for other Council events.

3.16  All of these events contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan objectives. 
They stimulate footfall in the Town Centre, offer an opportunity for 
communities to come together to celebrate Dartford’s history and the 
wide range of cultures found here. Others offer health and fitness 
benefits, whilst a large number of events are free and are therefore 
open to all.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The wide range of events offered help meet Corporate Plan objectives 
relating to Health and Well Being, Economic Development and 
Regeneration and Housing and Stronger Communities.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications As detailed within the report

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications As detailed in the report, the events require the 
support of a number of officers across the 
Council, including  Policy and Corporate Support, 
Enforcement and Regulatory Services, 
Community Safety, Town Centre and Park 
Rangers, ICT, Waste and Parks, and Corporate 
Maintenance.

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 FEBRUARY 2018

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

           None.

7. Appendices

          None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Adrian Gowan
(01322) 343418

Policy and 
Corporate 
Support
Internal 
Services





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 February 2018

THE ORCHARD THEATRE ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 
2016/17

1. Summary

1.1  This report presents the Annual Report & Accounts for 2016/17 from the 
management company of The Orchard Theatre, HQ Theatres Ltd.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the 2016/17 Annual Report & Accounts for The Orchard Theatre be 
noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Orchard Theatre is managed by Orchard Theatre Dartford Limited 
which is part of the HQ Theatres & Hospitality and QDOS 
Entertainment group, under a twenty year management contract with 
the Council, which is now in its eighth year. The contract requires HQ 
Theatres Ltd to submit an Annual Report setting out the performance of 
the Theatre in relation to a series of performance indicators which are 
specified in the contract.

3.2. The targets are not to be rigidly applied but to be used as reference 
points against which to measure whether, overall, the services are 
being provided as envisaged. The Monitoring Schedule is attached as 
Appendix A.

3.3. The Annual Report for 2016/17 is attached as Appendix B.

3.4. The Annual Accounts have been received and are attached at 
Appendix C. The net profit share received by the Council for 2016/17 
increased to £50,900 in comparison to the previous year profit share of 
£34,000 for 2015/16.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

HW2 Increase the opportunities for participating in sporting, cultural 
and leisure opportunities.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The contract for the management of The Orchard 
Theatre is based on the Council paying the 
contractor a set management fee each year, and 
receiving a small share of any net profit.  The 
management fee payable for the financial year 
2016/17 was £352,389. 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 February 2018

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment The transfer of the Theatre management to a 
private operator has significantly reduced the 
commercial risk to the Council, without 
compromising the quality of the Theatre or its 
important role in the community. 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Monitoring Schedule;
Appendix B – The Orchard Annual Report 2016/17;
Appendix C – Orchard Theatre Annual Accounts to 31 March 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Contract for Theatre 
Management Services 16 
March 2010.

Stephen Jefferson 
(01322) 343524

Policy & 
Corporate 
Support

N/A



sjefferson
Text Box
Appendix A





APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

1

 Annual Report 

1st April 2016 – 31st March 2017

Introduction

This was HQ Theatre & Hospitality’s (HQT&H) seventh year managing The Orchard 
Theatre Dartford (OTD) on behalf of Dartford Borough Council (DBC), bringing further 
growth to the venue with a busy and varied programme.  Highlights during the year 
2016/17 included:

• Attendance increased by 7% to 242,589, with the average capacity increasing from 
61% to 64%, taking it safely above the national average.  

• The number of performances during the year increased to 434.

• OTD has established its place on the number one touring circuit, alongside the UK’s 
big metropolitan cities.  Highlights during the year included: 
- A now established programme of drama that included Flare Path, The 

Mousetrap, Rehearsal for Murder, The Crucible, The Full Monty and Not Dead 
Enough, our third Peter James world premiere. This has become an annual 
highlight to the start of our season in January.  

- Musicals included returning favourites Priscilla, Rocky Horror, Joseph, Blood 
Brothers and Buddy; new West End titles in Dartford included Let It Be, Jackie the 
Musical, Dirty Dancing and Sunny Afternoon; and new touring productions to 
Dartford included The Sound of Music, Glenn Miller Story starring Tommy Steele, 
The Wedding Singer, Ghost and Sister Act starring Alexandra Burke.

- Pantomime continues to take pride of place at the heart of OTD’s season and 
Snow White starring Joe Pasquale became one of the highest grossing shows in 
the theatre’s history.  As usual the pantomime was complemented with seasonal 
dining events, including Winter Wonderland.

- A further season from the Royal Philharmonic Orchestra.
- OTD presented Matthew Bourne’s New Adventures Company for the first time 

with a programme of one act ballets.  Matthew hosted a well-received post show 
discussion following the first night and his visit received television coverage.  The 
season also included a first visit from international company Richard Alston and 
Tango Fire.  All three companies performed in Dartford prior to London.

- Music included Courtney Pine, Dr Hook, The Blockheads, The Proclaimers, Jimmy 
Osmond, Roy Wood, The Hollies and The Stylistics.  

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

2

- Sell-out comedy appearances from Jim Davidson, Jimmy Carr, Kevin Bloody 
Wilson, Romesh Ranganathan, Henning When and Sean Lock.

- The popular themed dining event programme included new title Salute to the 
40s.   

• The profile of the venue continues to flourish with regular coverage on regional and 
national television and strong outdoor marketing campaigns, including on local 
buses and large ad sites.

 The Orchard Youth Theatre and a community programme designed to engage with a 
wide cross section of Dartford residents through local partnerships continued.  
Particular highlights included OTD’s relationship with MIND, which culminated in the 
performance Limelight, the launch of the Community Choir and a dance and 
photography residency for local boys to learn new techniques and explore and 
reimagine local spaces in Dartford through dance and photography.

The Orchard Theatre remained in contact with Dartford Borough Council throughout the 
year through regular client meetings – the agenda includes updates on the maintenance 
of the building, attendance, programming, HR, Health and Safety, customer feedback 
and marketing and sales.

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

3

Number of performances by genre

Genre Target 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 Variance

 to target

Music 40 63 74 58 42 43 58 49 9

Comedy 30 23 18 21 22 30 29 23 -7

Variety 40 23 13 37 42 41 46 35 -5

Children’s 
Entertainment

18 39 48 24 41 36 69 43 25

Musical 48 48 34 63 83 83 75 147 99

Ballet 8 7 6 4 6 7 8 12 4

Opera 8 0 3 1 1 10 4 4 -4

Spoken Word 8 5 2 0 3 6 6 4 -4

Drama 24 33 22 1 22 53 53 37 13

Dance 6 14 14 2 8 11 22 9 3

Orchestral 
Concerts

4 1 2 5 5 2 2 2 -2

New and 
World Music

4 0 0 0 2 1 2 0 -2

Pantomime 54 61 49 50 39 38 38 39 -15

Local Use No 
Target

42 33 34 28 23 17 30 30

Total 
performances

292 359 318 294 344 384 429 434 146

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

4

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

5

Performance attendance

Performance analysis

Attendance increased by 7% to 242,589, with the average capacity increasing from 61% 
to 64%.  The number of performances during the year increased to 434, 50% more than 
DBC’s target.  Performances across all genres reached capacity attendances.  In 
particular the annual Peter James premiere has enjoyed enhanced sales with growth of 
50% since the first adaptation three years ago.  Not Dead Enough played to 90% 
capacity, one of the most successful plays in the theatre’s history.  Other highlights 
included Priscilla, Blood Brothers and Sister Act, each selling approximately seven 
thousand tickets each in one week at 90% capacity.

OTD’s programming strategy of scheduling approximately three weekly productions per 
month and the fourth week split to secure the best one night performances in Dartford 
continues to work.   

Indicator Target 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 Variance

to target

Number of 
tickets sold 
to DBC 
residents 

40% of 
bookers

55,103

(30.9%)

 59,068

(40.5%)

64,884

(37%)

85,713

(41%)

89,654

(42%)

110,709 

(45%)

150,772

(61%)

21%

Average 
attendance 
per 
performance

57% 55% 58% 64% 57% 61% 61% 64% 7%

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

6

Programming Overview

April

 The first week of April saw the highly charged drama about life in wartime Britain for 
the RAF bomber crews - Flare Path - land at the Orchard Theatre to a great 
reception.

 In ‘feather boa covered’ comparison, the last week of April saw the ultimate party 
Priscilla Queen of the Desert the Musical return to Dartford due to overwhelming 
popular demand. Starring West End theatre star and boyband Blue’s Duncan James. 

 The theatre was excited to host five packed performances of the English National 
Ballet’s enchanting version of the fairy tale Sleeping Beauty, which was created 
especially for children aged three upwards. 

 A new flat floor event, Come Die With Me was very well received and saw 150 diners 
become sleuths and reveal the murderer, whilst enjoying a delicious three course 
meal.

 One night performances also included music from Shalamar and The Blockheads, 
dance in an urban contemporary setting from Tap Factory, comedy with Ed Byrne 
and Roy Chubby Brown, and a concert featuring the music of Dire Straits.

May
 Half of May was made up of one night performances with the opera Tosca, the 

return of Jools Holland, music with Dubliner Legends and a first visit from The 
Proclaimers; comedy from Jimmy Jones and Jimmy Carr, dance from Strictly’s Pasha 
Kovalev and Menopause the Musical.

 The world’s longest running play The Mousetrap returned to Dartford for a week 
followed by song and dance extravaganza That’s Entertainment. 

June

June saw three week long musicals arrive in Dartford and there was still plenty of time 
for comedy nights, rock tributes and classical music to complete the programme.

 Rocky Horror Show – the sexist and funniest show in town landed at the Orchard 
at the beginning of June, starring local legend Norman Pace as the narrator and 
The Voice star Liam Tamne as Frank N Furter. The show is renowned for its 
audience participation and it had people up on their feet doing the time warp 
show after show!

 Stepping back to the 70’s, Jackie The Musical starred Janet Dibley.  This fun and 
feisty night out was packed with classic hits.

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

7

 Travelling back another decade, Let It Be closed the month of June by taking 
audiences through a non-stop parade of hits celebrating the music of the 
Beatles.

 One night performances included a sold out show by the Royal Philharmonic 
Orchestra, comedy with Bobby Davro and Adam Hills and a variety of concerts 
featuring the music of David Bowie, Meat Loaf and Queen. Plus, there was still 
time for the Grumpy Old Women to return with Fifty Shades of Beige.

July

July is traditionally the community performance month and this year was no exception, 
with The Orchard Theatre playing host to performances by Liz Burville Performing Arts, 
Reynolds Performing Arts College, Sylvera Dance School, Bird College and The Edge 
Dance and Theatre School. There was also time for one night performances and 
Dinosaurs!

 One night performances included a sold out stand-up comedy show by Sarah 
Millican, performances by X-Factor winner Matt Cardle, British harmony trio 
Blake, 1970’s rock ‘n’ roll band Showaddywaddy, vocalist Elkie Brooks and the 
2016 tour of The Drifters.

 Back by popular demand, Dinosaur Zoo returned to Dartford for five 
performances and introduced Tyrannosaurus Rex to the stage for the first time! 
An imaginative and hilarious live show suitable for all the family, with the added 
bonus of a meet and greet with the “dinos” after the show.

August

 The annual Summer Youth Project took over the Orchard Theatre for two weeks 
with Bugsy Malone.

 This was followed by a two week dark period – the one time that the building 
stops for essential maintenance work.

 During the second week of dark two successful hospitality events were held in 
the Restaurant – the return of Salute to the 1940s.  Customers enjoyed a three 
course meal with premier 1940s barbershop quartet Puttin’ On the Blitz and live 
music and dancing from Perfect Vintage.  The second event was brand new in 
Dartford – Fanny Galore’s Big Night Out.  The evening included a drag queen, 
cocktails, food, games and a disco.  Superb feedback was received.

 The Autumn season in the main house kicked off with the return of Chas and 
Dave and a stage adaptation of the children’s programme Lazy Town.

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

8

September

September saw three week long shows arrive in Dartford, plus comedy, children’s shows 
and the circus to complete the programme.

 Dirty Dancing – The Classic Story on Stage was exploding with heart-pounding 
music, passionate romance and sensationally sexy dancing. Knowing this would 
be a big hit, 13 performances were programmed and the audiences definitely 
had the time of their life!

 From musicals to murder, the middle of September saw OTD host Rehearsal for 
Murder featuring a star cast including, Gary Mavers, Anita Harris, Mark Wynter 
and Lauren Drummond. This was a new production from the award-winning 
writing team whose work includes the mystery series Murder, She Wrote and 
Columbo.

 To close off the month the hills were alive to The Sound of Music. One of the 
greatest musicals of all time, this magnificent new production, with wonderfully 
lavish new staging received fantastic reviews from everyone that attended.

 One night performances included a sold out comedy show from Sean Lock, 
performances from Jane McDonald and Les McKeown’s Bay City Rollers and a 
visit from the Chinese State Circus. Plus, there was still time for entertaining the 
little ones with two performances of Stick Man and Chris & Pui.

October

 DAODS returned to OTD with Annie Get Your Gun.  The OTD marketing team worked 
closely with the company.

 Tommy Steele in The Glenn Miller Story proved to be a huge hit with Dartford 
audiences.  The production featured a large big band on stage.

 OTD’s technical team worked hard to enable performances of The Very Hungary 
Caterpillar to play over The Glenn Miller Story.  The planning paid off and young 
audiences had a great theatrical experience.

 The final week long production of the month was the return of Buddy.   Despite 
numerous Dartford runs before, the production received particularly strong word of 
mouth with many show devotees saying that it was the best production of Buddy 
that they had seen.

 Live music one night performances during the month included 10CC, Steeleye Span, 
The Hollies, Jimmy Osmond and the Royal Philharmonic Orchestra.

 Comedy was provided by sell-out performances from Jimmy Carr and Henning 
Wehn.

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

9

November

 Family shows Steve Backshall’s Wild World and Ministry of Science Live brought an 
educational and interactive style to OTD this month.  Why The Whales Came told a 
gentle and compelling story of unlikely friendship in WW1.  All were well received by 
audiences.  

 One-night music offerings included Foster and Allen, Legend Of A Band - The Moody 
Blues, The Sensational 60's, Roy Wood and His Band and The Manfreds.  Shawn Klush 
as Elvis, Dr Hook and The Stylistics also performed to sell out audiences. 

 Continuing with the success of one night performances Romesh Ranganathan, Kevin 
Bloody Wilson and Josh Widdicombe brought comedy to Dartford selling out on all 
three counts. 

 The final one night live performances included a variety of genres to suit all tastes.  
Britain’s Got Talent finalist Jamie Raven took to the stage in his magic show, the 
much-admired Richard Alston Dance Company made its debut at The Orchard 
Theatre showcasing exceptional contemporary dance. The cast of Seriously Dead 
brought comedy drama, whilst Round The Horne allowed audiences to take a step 
back in time to the BBC’s Radio Studio to experience this comedy classic live.  The 
ever popular Ellen Kent returned with the opera Aida.

 Blood Brothers returned to OTD proving to be particularly popular with schools and 
group bookers.  A near sell out.  

 Sunny Afternoon, the story and music of legendary sixties band The Kinks, came to 
OTD for the first time this month direct from the West End.  It was enormously 
popular with audiences with standing ovations each show and dancing in the aisles! 
The catwalk going into the centre stalls added an extra element to the show.

December

 Snow White was a hit with audiences and advance sales for next year’s panto are 
strong – always a positive sign. Group bookings included over 425 groups, 
including 15 local schools and nurseries.

 The panto was complimented by Winter Wonderland before and during the 
panto ‘dark’ days a seasonal edition of That’ll Be The Day and local charity 
concert Magic of Christmas.

January 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

10

We bounced into the New Year with full force, following a very successful Pantomime 
Season and delivered not one but three weeks of shows that enjoyed strong sales:

 January started with a “Hallelujah” as the new touring production of Sister Act 
arrived in town. Starring Alexandra Burke and directed and choreographed by 
Craig Revel Horwood, this feel-amazing show based on the movie had dazzling 
dance routines and a funky musical score that played to sell out audiences all 
week.

 Despite the British weather turning and the flurries of snow, Moscow City Ballet 
with a full orchestra, transformed the Orchard Theatre into a magical 
wonderland to perform Swan Lake & Sleeping Beauty.

 Our second sold out show saw the Oscar-winning love story live on stage in a 
brand new musical production, Ghost The Musical. Featuring the iconic 
Unchained Melody (The Righteous Brother’s) and many more terrific songs co-
written by Eurythmics’ Dave Stewart this show was a big hit.

 Following the huge success of The Perfect Murder and Dead Simple, the thrilling 
work of multi-million selling author Peter James returned to the Orchard Theatre 
with the world premiere production and sell out production of Not Dead Enough, 
starring award winning actor Shane Richie as DS Roy Grace, Laura Whitmore, one 
of the stars of 2016’s Strictly Come Dancing and Stephen Billington, best known 
for roles on Hollyoaks and Coronation Street.

 At the end of January the now anticipated adult panto Puss & Dick was packed 
with corny jokes, raunchy plots and blatant sexual innuendos. The Orchard 
Theatre patrons got one last chance to reminisce before the festive season was 
well and truly put behind us for another year.

February 

February was another packed month offering something for everyone including comedy, 
dance, variety, and children’s performances.

 The month started with The First Hippo on the Moon, David Walliams’ explosively 
funny space adventure for children aged three and up. Featuring puppetry, 
music, a giant space race to the moon and the voice of David Walliams the show 
was a great success.  

 This was closely followed by Joseph and the Amazing Technicolour Dreamcoat 
starring Joe McElderry. This sparkling family musical retelling the Biblical story of 
Joseph and his 11 brothers and the coat of many colours had the audience on 
their feet dancing show after show.

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

11

 Then it was time to welcome The Full Monty, with an all-star cast including Gary 
Lucy. Based on the smash hit film about six out of work steel workers, tickets for 
the show proved to be “Hot Stuff” with sell out performances.

 An exciting first for the Orchard Theatre saw Sir Matthew Bourne “Britain’s 
favourite choreographer” return to his roots and bring his Early Adventures to 
the Orchard Theatre. A programme of hit one act pieces that launched his 
career, it saw the birth of the style, wit and sheer entertainment that his 
company New Adventures is renowned for.

 One night performances included music from The Classic Rock Show, Rumours of 
Fleetwood Mac and the Johnny Cash Roadshow, comedy with Jim Davidson and 
Miles Jupp, dance with Brendan Cole and Tango Fire and So you think you know 
about Dinosaurs during Half Term. 

 The Orchard Theatre were also proud to support a fundraising concert Smile for 
Nathan Box, which featured a stellar line-up of performers from West End shows 
including Lyn Paul and raised much needed funds to send Nathan to Texas for 
essential treatment.  

March

 March got off to a “fantastic” start when Roald Dahl’s Fantastic Mr Fox prowled 
into town.  A juicy tale of greed, pride and the power of friendship, this flagship 
production was a theatrical feast with live music and songs and gloriumptious 
designs.

 Back by popular demand and celebrating the 10th anniversary of the multi-
million selling CDs - Dreamboats & Petticoats returned for a trip down memory 
lane. Packed with some of the greatest hit songs of the rock ‘n’ roll era, 
audiences were up on their feet show after show. 

 This was followed by the bold new production of Arthur Miller’s The Crucible, 
starring Charlie Condou (Coronation Street) and Victoria Yates (Call The 
Midwife).  It was an atmospheric staging of a theatre classic, which is a chilling 
reminder of the frailty of reason in the face of hysteria.

 March was topped off with a brand new and hilarious musical based on the hit 
film The Wedding Singer. With an all-star cast, partying like its 1985 the show 
was packed with songs which captured all the fun and energy of the Adam 
Sandler smash-hit film and opening night was topped off with a real life marriage 
proposal – and she said yes! 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

12

 One-night performances included music from The Syd Lawrence Orchestra, 
That’ll Be The Day and the ELO Experience, comedy with Chris Ramsey and Lee 
Nelson, songs and scenes from popular shows with Noel & Gertie and four 
performances of Mr Bloom’s Nursery Live for our younger patrons.

 Chris, Rebecca and Jamie attended the UK Theatre Touring Symposium this 
month.  An opportunity to network with industry colleagues.

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

13

Marketing and Sales

The publication of the Season Brochure three times per year remains the key marketing 
and Public Relations tool, producing a strong upsurge in sales when it hits, backed up by 
strong advertising campaigns.  This activity is complemented with full marketing and PR 
campaigns for each show, for example:

 For the run of Jackie The Musical OTD wanted to take its customers back to the 
70’s so a giant Jackie magazine cover was placed in the foyer for theatregoers to 
pose in front of and upload to social media.  We also created Jackie magazine 
heartthrob posters for the ladies toilets in the weeks leading up to the show.

 Theatre staff took to Facebook to promote Grumpy Old Women with a video 
about things that make them grumpy.

 OTD presented a Rocky Horror Show themed photo booth on opening night, 
capturing theatregoers who had dressed up – a very good response and it helped 
create word of mouth about the show.

 Promoting Dinosaur Zoo's visit to Dartford, following one of the morning shows 
we walked the Tyrannosaurus Rex through the Orchards centre and down the 
High Street – it gained a lot of attention from the general public with crowds of 
people wanting their photos taken with the dinosaur.

 OTD promoted Chinese State Circus to attenders of the Circus workshop held at 
Acacia Hall.

 To promote the September brochure and raise awareness of the venue OTD 
invested in a stand in Bluewater shopping centre for a weekend.  As a result we 
handed out over 1000 brochures to shoppers. Other activity for the launch 
included using a new distribution company who distributed over 10,000 
brochures around Dartford to local businesses.

 OTD held a photo-call with the cast and puppets of The Very Hungry Caterpillar 
to promote the forthcoming Family Arts Festival – a national initiative.

 Fantastic Mr Fox: Partnership with The Fox Project to promote the show. The 
cast did a ‘support the project’ video, in exchange for a post on their Facebook 
page to 400k followers.

 The Wedding Singer campaign included a snapchat filter specifically for Dartford.
 During the year the marketing and sales team got to see as many shows as 

possible ahead of their Dartford run to ensure they could market the shows 
correctly and contact those groups’ bookers who they think will enjoy 
productions.

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

14

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

15

Pantomime

 October is a busy month for the marketing department with regards to planning 
and actioning the marketing campaign for pantomime.  From October the 
majority of the pantomime activity begins, including all of the outdoor 
advertising, including bus sides, train station ad-rails and radio. A weekly task 
force meeting monitors the activity.  

 OTD was actively involved in the Dartford Christmas light switch-on meetings 
and planning which culminated in Joe Pasquale flicking the switch! 

 Other Christmas events that OTD attended included the Ightham Mote Christmas 
Fayre and Stone light switch on.

 OTD forged a partnership with Sainsbury’s, who are now displaying pantomime 
print and a banner - a great way of promoting to a large footfall of people at no 
cost.

 Other pantomime marketing included:
o On opening day we took ‘Cory the Cat’ into the town centre and the 

Orchards Shopping Centre to give out panto flags and branded sweets etc
o Social media over the panto period was highly active, with images and 

video messages from rehearsals and backstage, including a video 
message from all the cast on National Panto Day.

o We took part in Christmas Jumper Day, with staff and patrons taking part 
and raising money for Save the Children.

o Over 11 reviewers came to see the pantomime including The Stage 
newspaper.

Audience development

 OTD commenced a postcode analysis.  The venue is looking for any gaps in its 30 
minute drive time with the aim to target them more over the next year.

 The marketing team started advertising with South London Press as a trial to 
start reaching into South London. It is too early to comment on the effectiveness, 
but we will continue and use promo codes to track the bookings.

Public Relations 

The team attended and created various events to maximise coverage of OTD, including:

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

16

 The Summer brochure was launched in May. We held a press and groups launch 
which saw attendance from several show producers who talked about their 
upcoming shows, plus a special guest performance from X Factor winner Matt 
Cardle. This event resulted in a number of bookings and press coverage.

 In July we attended two events promoting the venue. Firstly, Kent County Show 
where we had a pantomime themed photo booth, inviting families to have their 
photo taken - they were able to take away their photos as a memento of the day.

 We attended the Dartford Festival weekend - promoting Dirty Dancing, our 
Summer family shows and pantomime, this was a great event to be a part of.

 We attended the July Dartford Living event, where we had a speakers slot to 
pitch the Orchard Theatre Business Club (a unique opportunity to network with 
other businesses while also getting to see a show and raise the awareness of 
your brand) to other local businesses. Lots of interest with two businesses 
already signing up - we will launch the first event in September.

 An activity day for families was held in Dartford Park to promote Lazytown and 
promote getting active – this was in conjunction with The Gym Group and 
Fairfield Leisure, and supported by DBC and We Love Dartford.

 Groups and Press Launch for the Winter Season was held on the opening night of 
Rehearsal for Murder on 19th September.  Good attendance from local press, the 
Mayor, key group bookers and our ambassadors. We had representation from 
show producers of Sound of Music, Sunny Afternoon, Matthew Bourne and Babe. 
We also had a special guest performance from magician Jamie Raven. These 
events are proving to become more popular and have a great impact on sales 
and press coverage following the event. 

 Our annual Open House event took place on Sun 4 Sep – the day included 
backstage tours, workshops and activities for all the family. All of the pre-
bookable tours were sold out. This event was a free event.

 OTD has attended various events, including the Ightham Mote annual apple 
festival promoting pantomime and Dawn over Dartford and Dartford Living Live.

 The marketing team attended Excursions 2017 at Alexandra Palace, an exhibition 
event for group bookers from all around the country. A great day talking to 
potential new groups, and groups that already visit us. Over 30 new groups 
signed up to receive more information from us.

 OTD’s Press Officer attended the Press and Communications Conference in 
London.

Media coverage

OTD continues to enjoy a strong relationship with the media, including television 
coverage.  Highlights this year included: 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

17

 BBC South East coverage included; Joanne Clifton ahead of her visit in 
Thoroughly Modern Millie, filming with Charlie and Victoria Yeates on the 
opening night of The Crucible, Matthew Bourne, Brendan Cole, The Not Dead 
Enough world premiere with Laura Whitmore and Shane Ritchie, Jane McDonald, 
Let it Be and Ruth Madoc from The Wedding Singer.

 Miskin Radio interviews included Brotherhood of Man, Pasha Kovalev, Lyn Paul 
(Blood Brothers) and cast from Dreamboats and Petticoats. 

 Photo calls included Duncan James with the Dartford Mayor, Out of Order cast in 
the High Street and The Full Monty cast. 

 Dartford Living interviewed Lucy O’Byrne to promote The Sound of Music.
 BBC Radio Kent interviews included Marti Webb (La Cage Aux Folles), Tango Fire, 

Anthony Lewis (The Full Monty), Louis Emerick and The Crucible’s Charlie Condu.
 Kent Messenger interviews included Laura Whitmore (Not Dead Enough), 

Victoria Yeates (The Crucible) and Ray Quinn.
 The Reporter Series interviews included Alexandra Burke (Sister Act) and Shane 

Ritchie (Not Dead Enough).

Sponsorship / Business Development: 

 OTD held its first Orchard Theatre Business Club event on the opening night of 
The Sound of Music – this scheme has been set up to create partnerships with 
local businesses and to look at opportunities to cross-promote. In attendance 
were representatives from Kip McGrath, Fox Estates, Dartford Living, Capstone 
Foster Care among others. We are looking to grow this scheme into 2017.

 Business Club held its second event in January on the opening night of Ghost The 
Musical.  Very successful evening with attendance from a majority of our 
Business Club members. 

 Dartford Double Tree by Hilton signed up as the 2016 pantomime sponsor. 
 OTD works closely with McDonalds’.  10,000 tray liners went into three local 

McDonald’s restaurants promoting our family shows over the Spring/Summer 
season.

 OTD created a new partnership with Kip McGrath, a national chain of private 
tuition education centres who have a centre based in Dartford.

 OTD has been in talks with Bluewater to discuss the potential to work together in 
the future.  The first initiative was partnering up with Bluewater on a VIP 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

18

competition for Dirty Dancing which provided access to their customers and 
social media following.

 As part of our ongoing partnership with The Gym Group, we have met to review 
how we work together and will be looking to introducing exclusive offers to their 
members (approx. 3k members), in return they will offer discounts to our 
Premiere members and display show print in their foyer area.

 We are continuing to make connections with local businesses and have been 
attending a number of networking events including Dawn Over Dartford and the 
Dartford Living event. 

Groups’ Club

Membership continues to grow and by the end of the year had reached over 2000.  The 
scheme is designed to make group bookings as stress free as possible.  Groups’ Club 
events included: 

 OTD hosted a Groups event for the opening night of Flare Path.
 OTD attended the Great for Groups exhibition in Surrey, a very successful visit 

with over 50 Groups Club sign-ups.
 OTD attended the Group Bookings forum in Manchester – attended by venues all 

over the country.
 Groups continued to book private Tea & Tours throughout the year.
 In May the Groups’ Coordinator arranged a trip for the top group bookers to 

Southend to see a production of Rehearsal for Murder prior to its Dartford run.
 In June a Teachers’ Club event was held which saw over 25 local teachers attend. 

This event included a pre-show talk about group bookings and our creative 
leaning output and how they can get involved and also offered a chance for 
them to see a show – a very successful evening. 

 OTD took ten of the top group bookers to the West End to see Sunny Afternoon 
before its Dartford run in November, resulting in several group bookings.

 Groups Newsletters sent to 2000 group bookers.
 OTD attended the Women’s Institute event at Alexandra Palace, a four day event 

for group bookers.

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

19

Premiere Card

OTD’s loyalty card increased its membership by 14% by the end of March 2017.  Benefits 
for members include ticket discounts, including two tickets for the price of one on 
opening nights, post-show receptions, newsletters, a discount in The Restaurant and no 
booking fees.

July was the launch of renewals of our Premiere Card scheme by Direct Debit.  This has 
proved hugely popular with customers.

Community Programme 

OTD works hard to create a full creative and community programme.  Activity this year 
included:-

 The third annual Community Performance Platform Once Upon a Time took place 
with nine participating dance groups totalling 250 young performers aged 7 - 18 
and special guests Bird College. The event was attended by over 500 audience 
members, including the Mayor and Mayoress and other councillors. 

 Two day film making workshops took place in the school holidays, led by Nathan 
Pavey head tutor at REELS.

 Community choir taster days took place ahead of the official launch in July - 44 
people attended.

 New project partnership began with Northumberland Heath Primary in Erith - 
Creative Learning team produced the Year 6 summer show.

 The third annual Family Day took place offering a variety of ages the chance to 
take part in circus, theatre and dance workshops, storytelling sessions and arts 
and crafts. 188 people attended and fun was had by all. 

 The Community Choir performed at the Bugsy Malone press night for their first 
outing and was well received. 

 A five day dance and photography residency took place, led by InFuse Dance.  
Eight local boys attended and had the opportunity to learn new technique and 
then explore and reimagine local spaces in Dartford through dance and 
photography.  The results were displayed in the theatre foyer. 

 Summer theatre Fun Days were well attended following promotions in the DBC 
Summer Sizzler magazine. Workshops for 6 – 10 year olds took place in Acting, 
Improvisation, Street Dance, Musical Theatre, Writing and Puppetry. 

 A partnership project with the Parents Consortium was launched with a Play in A 
Day - a day of activity with 10 students who have profound learning disabilities.  

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

20

This was a success and we had great feedback from the Parents Consortium 
support team leader and carers. 

 Free story time sessions took place in The Meeting Place in The Orchard 
Shopping Centre on Mondays throughout August for under 5s and their grown-
ups.

 The Orchard Theatre Community Choir sang at press night for The Sound of 
Music and was well received. 

 The Community Choir performed their first concert, attended by The Mayor and 
Mayoress and Cllr Allen with a special guest performance by members of The 
Orchard Youth Theatre.

 Theatre Fun Days took place in February half term – six workshops attended by 
20 children. 

Orchard Youth Theatre (OYT)

OYT continued to build its membership. Highlights for the groups during the year 
included the OYT summer production MYTH'D in the theatre with over 60 young 
performers.  It was well-received by an audience made up of friends and family. 

Summer Youth Project (SYP)

This year’s Summer Youth Project was Bugsy Malone with 125 performers, four young 
technicians and 2185 audience members over four shows. Highlights included a visit 
from Dr Ian Stapleton to teach the stage combat sections and the chance to use real 
splurge in the guns!

MIND

The partnership with MIND Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley continued with a fourth 
10 week drama course for adults with mental health issues.  The Orchard Theatre was 
invited to lead on a creative project working with MIND service users to devise and 
make a piece of theatre that explores mental health in an inventive and insightful way. 
The piece of drama was showcased at the MIND 50th anniversary celebrations this June, 
taking place at The Orchard Theatre.   MIND drama classes took place weekly through 
January to recruit participants for the project that launched in February.  

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

21

School Liaison and Partnerships

OTD continued to strengthen relationships with local schools.  In addition to schools 
regularly attending productions, students took part in work experience.

Charity fundraising 

 During the run of Snow White OTD raised over £10k for Great Ormond Street 
Hospital (GOSH).

 Staff participated in various fundraising events including cake sales, charity BBQ, 
quizzes and the highlight of the year was when eight employees completed the 
Tough Mudder South East obstacle course raising over £8k for GOSH.   

 Members of the marketing team visited Great Ormond Street Hospital, OTD’s 
chosen charity, to see the work that takes place with the money we raise as part 
of the Theatre for Theatres scheme.

And also…

OTD continues to play a central and active role in the local community, for example: 

 Hosting the Dartford Borough Council’s Elders Forum in the main auditorium for 
approximately 150 guests.

 Attending the Town Centre Board meetings.

 Sponsoring and hosting the Green Room at the Dartford Festival.

 Allowing the Met Police Dogs to use the building for training.

 Taking part in the Dartford and Gravesend Business Awards as a finalist at Woodville 
Halls in Gravesend.

Buildings and premises

The property is kept in good condition with monthly maintenance carried out by the 
contractor Aster Maintenance Ltd, who maintain the building plant and infrastructure.  
Day to day maintenance is carried out by the in-house Maintenance Assistant, who 
helps keep the building in a good and safe condition.

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

22

 A schedule was put together for building works during the dark period in August 
including; Fire Hose Removal, Asbestos Inspection, Fire Damper, Inspections, 
Rigging Inspection, Dimmer inspection, and Zurich Inspection.

 OTD has continued working on the seat replacement project.
 New carpet purchased for lower and upper foyers and stairs.
 The main boilers have undergone a Gas Safe Inspection - all is satisfactory.
 The sprinkler valve set seal was replaced.
 Aster has undertaken a water treatment report - all satisfactory.
 CCTV & security doors were upgraded at the theatre.
 Loose paving slabs repaired by Theobalds on front walkway.

Front of House 

Highlights included:

 The ever popular Tea and Tours were held throughout the year.  
 A new Murder Mystery dining experience was trialed successfully in the 

auditorium. Come Die With Me served 154 happy detectives!
 During The Mousetrap a post-show Q and A session was held, which also 

involved a tour of the set.
 The Elders Forums continued to the hosted at OTD.  
 A sold out Ladies Night took place in the restaurant in early June, where 100 

ladies were entertained by Davina Sparkle, OTD’s resident drag queen!
 A Rocky Horror after show party was held on the Saturday night and saw fans of 

the show stay for a cocktail and dance with OTD’s resident DJ.
 A post show party with our resident DJ Kevin was held after the Showaddywaddy 

performance in July.  The party was held in the Lower Foyer for accessibility and 
all who attended danced away until midnight!

 Two sold out Tropicana Nights took place in the auditorium, which saw 500 party 
goers dress up in their favourite 80’s inspired outfits and dance the night away to 
the best of 80’s music!

 A Dirty Dancing after show party was held on the second Saturday night and saw 
fans of the show stay for a cocktail and dance with OTD’s resident DJ.

 Jane McDonald held a Post Show Meet and Greet where she posed for 
photographs with customers and there was also an opportunity to have 
merchandise signed by Jane herself.

 Jimmy Osmond OTD held a pre-show Meet and Greet inside the auditorium.  
Donny had his photo taken with all customers attending and also signed any item 
of their merchandise.

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

23

 The Dreamboys also held a pre-show and post-show Meet and Greet where they 
served prosecco and canapes and had their photo taken with customers.

 A pre-show talk was held by the Richard Alston Dance Company where 
customers enjoyed meeting the Artistic Director, Richard Alston himself! 

 Flat floor event Winter Wonderland in Dec proved very popular with 478 
attendees.

 Seasonal restaurant events – Bubbles & Buble and Moonlight & Mistletoe were a 
resounding success with 185 attendees over the four events.

 A Castle stand created by Bird College was set up in the foyer to sell pantomime 
merchandise. This provided a grand entrance exhibit for our patrons and will be 
put back into service next year for Cinderella.

• Not Dead Enough enjoyed a post-show Q&A with the author Peter James, which 
was well attended.

 Fantastic Mr Fox held a ‘Show How’ event following their first performance. This 
was attended by 162 people – mostly local school groups – who thoroughly 
enjoyed the event.

 Dreamboats and Petticoats featured a post-show Q&A session which was also 
well attended as well as being very informative.

 A volunteer recruitment evening for prospective ushers was held in mid-March 
which led to around 15 new volunteers joining the team at the theatre.

Access

 A captioned performance for Flare Path assisted customers who are deaf, 
deafened and hard of hearing.

 Signed performances were held for week long productions including for Priscilla, 
The Sound of Music and Sister Act.

 During Sunny Afternoon OTD held an Audio Described performance on the 
Saturday matinee.  Prior to the performance all those attending enjoyed a Touch 
Tour of the stage which allows them to understand the performance and the 
description more clearly.  They also had an opportunity to meet the cast and talk 
through their roles within the performance.

 Three access shows were programmed for Snow White & the Seven Dwarves - an 
Audio Described performance, Relaxed Performance and Signed Performance.

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

24

Customer Feedback

 During the year OTD received both positive and negative feedback from customers.  
The majority of complaints were regarding other customers disturbing their 
performance and the majority of compliments were thanking the staff. 

 Feedback was also received about the queues in the Orchards Shopping centre car 
park after the performance; however this has now been addressed with changes to 
the car park ticketing system from January 2018. 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

25

Health and Safety

OTD uses the services of R&B Health and Safety Solutions to support it in its aim to 
provide a safe environment for employees, visitors and customers. Regular workplace 
assessments are carried out by the consultancy with a full report issued.  The H&S 
programme included:

 Implementation of a new template for Standard Operating Procedures and OTD 
started a process of reviewing and transferring Health & Safety procedures onto 
this template.

 Sally Callaghan (General Manager) signed up as a member to D-TAC.  Contact 
details have been shared with representatives from Special Branch for future 
guidance and advice on the theatres security procedures.

 All theatre Risk Assessments were transferred onto a new H&S portal system, 
which supported the coordination, completion and review of RA’s at the theatre.

 Three new two-way radios were purchased to support the theatre’s new Lone 
Working Procedure.

 Display Screen Equipment (DSE) awareness and assessors course was delivered 
during June. The theatre gave awareness training to 11 members of staff that 
work regularly with DSE and trained up seven assessors who can ensure all staff 
receives a personal DSE Assessment of their work station.

 Review of Emergency Evacuation Procedures has been undertaken by General 
Manager, Building’s & Technical Manager, Hospitality Manager and Stage Door 
Supervisor. A new Standard Operating Procedure was drafted and launched in 
August.

 Table top training exercise delivered by Metropolitan Police Counter Terrorism 
officers on 27th July to Bromley and Dartford management teams. 

 Approximately 90 volunteers took part in fire awareness, manual handling and 
induction training over two days.

 Sally Callaghan attended a four day IOSH course facilitated by RB.  This covers 
topics such as assessing risks, controlling risks, understanding your 
responsibilities, identifying hazards, investigating accidents and incidents, 
measuring performance and protecting our environment.

 Five members of the Orchard team were trained in emergency First Aid 
response.  

 The Fire Service held an awareness campaign outside the theatre in December.
• A newly launched Health & Safety Committee met at the end of January.  A 

representative (H&S Champion) came from each department and will meet 
monthly to ensure H&S stays on the top of everyone’s agenda.

• Unattended & Suspicious Items Procedural note launched at H&S Committee 
Meeting.

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

26

• Will West attended Ladder Safety training.
• Training Calendar launched to ensure core training courses are scheduled 

regularly.
• H&S Inspection by RB took place on 14th February and no significant concerns 

were identified. An action plan is in place to work through the minor areas 
highlighted.

• Three staff were trained as Fire Marshalls. This one day course provided in-depth 
knowledge and will now enable the staff members to deliver the in-house fire 
awareness training courses for their colleagues.

Human Resources

 Chris Glover is Theatre Director for both the Churchill Theatre Bromley and the 
Orchard Theatre Dartford.  He led the management team at both venues 
overseeing the strategic operation, budgets and programming strategy.  The 
management of the Churchill Theatre commenced in April 2016.

 OTD’s Marketing Apprentice, Jess, who has been with the venue for two years 
joined the team as a full time, permanent member of staff as Marketing 
Assistant. The focus of this role will be to support the team and lead on the 
digital and social media strategy.

 OTD restructured the Hospitality department – the new role of Deputy General 
Manager and two Hospitality Managers were created to bring Front of House 
and Hospitality under one department. All are permanent full time positions.

 This year OTD celebrated Ticket Office Manager, Jan Kimber’s, 30th year at the 
Orchard Theatre!  OTD marked the occasion with flowers, champagne and a 
photo collage of memories.  Jan, who has seen many changes over the years, still 
remarks how much she loves coming to work every day and it’s the people that 
makes it for her.   

 On September 8th approx. 30 staff and volunteers attended the HQ Theatres 
Celebration of Excellence Awards at Southend Theatre.  OTD won the Innovation 
in Food and Drink Award for the Special Hospitality Packages and OTD was also 
shortlisted for the Team Award for the last Season Launch and Most Creative 
Print or Digital Marketing Award for the Enchanted Forest Pantomime Photo 
booth at the Kent County Show. Volunteers Jane Rennie and Mary Thomas were 
also recipients of a Champagne Moment award for their commitment and 
enthusiasm at our late hospitality events.  A hugely successful year!

 Tom Blackwell was appointed to the full time permanent post of Theatre 
Technician.  This made OTD particularly pleased as in 2014 Tom successfully 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


APPENDIX B

The Orchard Theatre
Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED

Admin: 01322 220099 
Ticket Office: 01322 220000
 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk

27

completed a one year’s apprenticeship in Dartford.  At the time OTD was unable 
to offer him a permanent position but he had continued working as a casual. 

The management team 2016/17 consisted of:

 Theatre Director – Chris Glover 
 General Manager (Operations) – Sally Callaghan 
 Administration Manager – Rebecca Stevens
 Marketing Manager – Jamie Leadbeatter
 Ticket Office Manager  - Janet Kimber
 Deputy General Manager  –  Suzie Burkett
 Hospitality Manager – Lauren Greening
 Hospitality Manager - Zelda Kitto
 Technical & Buildings Manager – Will West

Financial

As per Schedule Two, a full set of Statutory Accounts has been included as an addendum 
to this report.

Chris Glover

Theatre Director

29th September 2017

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk




sjefferson_1
Text Box
APPENDIX C













































SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 February 2018

UPDATE - SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017-18

1. Summary

To note the Updated Work Plan for the remainder of the 2017–18 municipal 
year.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the Committee agrees the Work Plan 2017-18 Update document attached 
as Appendix A to this report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 In accordance with its Terms of Reference (ToRs) the Committee 
agreed an initial Work Plan for 2017-18 at its first meeting in the 
current municipal cycle on 23 May 2017 [Min. No. 12 refers].

3.2 Following the agreement of the Managing Director that the Committee 
consider further topics on a draw-down basis on 6 February 2018, an 
updated Work Plan document is attached at Appendix A for Members 
information and comment accordingly.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A: Update - Scrutiny Committee Work Plan 2017-18



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
6 February 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Mins. of Meets
2017-18 and 
D/Ds 

January 
2018

David Hook
Member Services 
(01322 343276)

Member 
Services 
MD

N/A



Appendix A 

Updated SCRUTINY WORK PLAN for remainder of 2017-18

6 February 2018 17 April 2018

D/D – Homelessness 
Review 2017

Princes Park 
Annual Update

 

D/D – Corporate Plan 
Performance 

Indicators - Housing

Draw-Down(s) 
[t.b.a.]

D/D - Expenditure 
from the Identified 
Initiatives Reserve 

2017-18 to date

D/D – Review of 
Council Sponsored 

Events 2017

Review Regulation 
9 Notice

Orchard Theatre 
Annual Report and  
Accounts 2016-17

Review Regulation 9 
Notice

Consider Work 
Plan for 2018-19

Review 2017-18 
Work Plan




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 14 November 2017
	7 Regulation 9 Notice
	8 Homelessness Review 2017 [Draw-Down]
	Homeless Review APPENDIX A FINAL cleared

	9 CORPORATE PLAN: KEY ACTIONS and PERFORMANCE INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT - SECTION 5 HOUSING & STRONGER COMMUNITIES [Draw-Down]
	Appendix A [Cabinet Report 7 December 2017 - Performance Indicators [FINAL]
	Appendix B [Cabinet Report 7 December 2017 Appendix B - Performance Indicators [FINAL]

	10 Identified Initiatives Reserve 2017-18 [Draw-Down]
	Item 10 App. A Scrutiny 6 February 2018 IIR

	11 Council Events 2017 [Draw-Down]
	12 Orchard Theatre Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17 [Work Plan]
	APPENDIX A Monitoring Schedule
	APPENDIX B Annual Report 16-17
	APPENDIX C Orchard Theatre Dartford Limited - Financial Statements for the Year End.._

	13 Review 2017-18 Work Plan
	Appendix A UpdatedScrutinyWorkPlan20718




